# The National Agricultural Law Center



A research project from The National Center for Agricultural Law Research and Information of the University of Arkansas School of Law • NatAgLaw@uark.edu • (479) 575-7646

# An Agricultural Law Research Article

# A Legal Guide to the National Organic Program

by

Harrison M. Pittman

March 2004

www.NationalAgLawCenter.org

# A Legal Guide to the National Organic Program

### **Table of Contents**

I.	Introduc	ction	1
II.	The Na	ational Organic Program	2
		Definitions	
	B.	Applicability	4
		1. Certification, Exemptions, and Exclusions	4
		2. Recordkeeping Requirements for Certified, Exempted, and Excluded Operations	
		3. Allowed and Prohibited Substances, Methods, and Ingredients	
	C.	Organic Production and Handling Standards	
		1. Organic System Plan	
		2. Crop Production.	
		·	
		4. Handling Requirements	
		5. Temporary Variances	
	D.	Labels, Labeling, and Market Information	
		1. Use of the Term "Organic"	
		2. Labeling Categories and Calculation of Organic Composition	31
		3. Livestock Feed	
		Labeling of Nonretail Containers Used for Shipping and Storage	
		Products in Other Than Packaged Form at Point of Sale	39
		<u> </u>	40
			41
	E.	Certification	
			41
		3. Review of Application	43
		4. On-site Inspections	44
		5. Granting Certification	45
		6. Denial of Certification.	46
			48
	F	Accreditation of Certifying Agents	
		National List	
		National List Requirements Under the OFPA	
		National List Requirements Under the Final Rule	
		3. Amending the National List	
	Н.	State Organic Programs	
	••	1. General Requirements	58
		Investigation of and Noncompliance Procedures for Certified Operations	59
		·	60
			61
		5. Noncompliance Procedure for Certifying Agents	62
		6. Noncompliance Procedures Under SOPs	
	J.	Adverse Action Appeals Process.	64

### A National AgLaw Center Research Article

# A Legal Guide to the National Organic Program

#### Harrison M. Pittman

Staff Attorney

#### I. Introduction

Congress enacted the Organic Foods Production Act ("OFPA") of 19901 to create "national standards governing the marketing of certain agricultural products as organically produced products," (2) assure consumers that "organically produced products meet a consistent standard," and (3) facilitate "interstate commerce in fresh and processed food that is organically produced." OFPA requires the USDA Secretary to establish national standards for organic production and handling consistent with OFPA. On December 21, 2000, the USDA published a final rule that created these national standards.<sup>3</sup> The combination of OFPA and the final rule created the National Organic Program ("NOP"). As of October 21, 2002, for a "producer" or "handler" to sell, label, or represent agricultural products as "organic," that producer or handler must comply with all applicable requirements set forth in the OFPA and the final rule.4

NOP operates through a system in which USDA-accredited agents certify that producers and handlers comply with all applicable NOP requirements. It sets forth standards with which entities and individuals must comply to be accredited as certifying agents, as well as requirements with which producers and handlers of production and handling operations must comply to be certified. The NOP also establishes organic standards that govern crop and livestock production and the handling of these products. These standards require, among other things, that producers and handlers submit an organic system plan that describes all aspects of production and handling.

NOP publishes a national list of substances that are allowed or prohibited for use in organic production and handling. NOP also establishes requirements that govern the labels, labeling, and market information for organic products. NOP permits states to create their own organic programs, subject to conditions and requirements set forth in NOP. NOP enforcement mechanisms ensure that certifying agents, producers, and handlers comply with NOP requirements. NOP provisions govern the importation and exportation of organic products, and establishes mediation and adverse action appeals processes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 7 U.S.C. §§ 6501-6522.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> *Id.* at § 6501.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> NOP is administered by the Agricultural Marketing Service, an agency of the USDA. See http://www.ams./nop/indexIE.htm. For an excellent resource on NOP, see http://attra.ncat.org/attra-pub/nop.html and http://attra.ncat.org/attra-pub/PDF/organcert.pdf (Appropriate Technology Transfer for Rural Areas (ATTRA)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The NOP establishes four categories of "organic" products: (1) "100 percent organic"; (2) "organic"; (3) "made with organic (specified ingredients or food group(s)"; and (4) "products with less than 70 percent organically produced ingredients." These categories are addressed in Part D of this article and are set forth at 7 C.F.R. § 205.301. Unless otherwise indicated, the term "organic" as used in this article collectively refers to products qualifying in any one of these four categories.

This article examines the legal aspects of NOP. It focuses on the requirements set forth in the final rule and OFPA. This article is intended to be helpful for lawyers and non-lawyers alike who are interested or involved with organic production and handling.

It is useful to understand how and why NOP was created. The practice of producing organically grown agricultural products has existed for several decades in the United States, evolving from a small-scale and localized system into a highly organized and global production and marketing system.<sup>5</sup> These changes have spurred the organic industry to establish uniform standards for organic production and marketing.

As a result, private organizations and some states developed a third-party certification system. This system required a third-party to determine that the producer or processor had complied with its particular requirements for organic production, in order to be certified. This allowed the producer or processor to represent to consumers that its product had been produced and processed in accordance with that third-party's standards for organic production. Although this was a positive development for the organic industry, the goal of creating uniform standards for organic production and marketing fell short.

This goal remained unaccomplished because the standards for organic production often differed from one third-party certifier to another, as well from one state to another. Many third parties refused to recognize products that were certified by other certifying organizations because of differing standards, thereby impeding the flow of organic products into the marketplace and across state lines. This lack of uniformity in organic production standards was a significant problem. For example, organic livestock producers that needed organic feed for their operations in order to be certified and processors that needed to purchase organic ingredients for their processing operations were often unable to purchase the feed or ingredients that they needed because the feed or ingredients were certified under standards not recognized by the third-party that certified the producer or processor. Another problem was the lack of effective enforcement mechanisms to combat fraud and other violations.

Recognizing these problems, Congress enacted OFPA and authorized the USDA Secretary to promulgate regulations. The result was NOP, a comprehensive statutory and regulatory framework governing all stages of organic production and handling. For a producer or handler to sell, label, or represent agricultural products as "organic," the producer or handler must comply with all applicable NOP requirements.

#### II. The National Organic Program

#### A. Definitions

The definitions provided below are basic to understanding NOP and are used frequently throughout its provisions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Carolyn Dimitri & Catherine Greene, Recent Growth Patterns in the U.S. Organic Foods Market, Economic Research Service/USDA/AIB-777 (Sept. 2002), available at http://www.ers.usda.gov/publications/aib777/; Catherine Greene & Amy Kremen, U.S. Organic Farming in 2000-2001: Adoption of Certified Systems, Economic Research Service/USDA/AIB-780 (Feb. 2003), available at http://www.ers.usda.gov/publications/aib780/.

A "producer" is any person engaged in the business of growing or producing food or feed. The term "handle" is defined as the selling, processing, or packaging of agricultural products. A "handler" is any person engaged in the business of selling, processing, or packaging agricultural products, but does not include final retailers that do not process agricultural products. A "handling operation" is "[a]ny operation or portion of an operation (except final retailers of agricultural products that do not process agricultural products) that receives or otherwise acquires agricultural products and processes, packages, or stores such products."

OFPA defines "livestock" as "any cattle, sheep, goats, swine, poultry, equine animals used for food or in the production of food, fish used for food, wild or domesticated game, or other non-plant life." The final rule defines "livestock" as

[a]ny cattle, sheep, goat, swine, poultry, or equine animals used for food or in the production of food, fiber, feed, or other agricultural-based consumer products; wild or domesticated game; or other nonplant life, except such term shall not include aquatic animals or bees for the production of food, fiber, feed, or other agricultural-based consumer products.<sup>11</sup>

An "agricultural product" is any agricultural commodity or product in raw or processed form and includes any commodity or product derived from livestock that is marketed for either human or livestock consumption. A "person" can be an individual, group of individuals, or any type of business entity. Administrator means the "Administrator for the Agricultural Marketing Service, United States Department of Agriculture, or the representative to whom authority has been delegated to act in the stead of the Administrator.

#### B. Applicability

NOP establishes certification requirements and specifies operations exempt or excluded from the certification requirements. NOP also establishes recordkeeping requirements for certified and exempted operations, as well as standards governing the use of allowed and prohibited substances, methods, and ingredients in organic production and handling. Although exempted and excluded

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See 7 U.S.C. § 6502(18). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.2. However, the term "producer" does not include the selling, transporting, or delivering of crops or livestock by a producer of the crops or livestock to a handler.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See 7 U.S.C. § 6502(8). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See 7 U.S.C. § 6502(9). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See 7 C.F.R. at 205.2. There is no definition of "production operation" contained in the statute or the regulations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> 7 U.S.C. § 6502(11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See 7 U.S.C. § 6502(1). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See 7 U.S.C. § 6502(15). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.2.

operations are not required to comply with certification requirements, they must still comply with other NOP requirements.<sup>15</sup>

1. Certification, Exemptions, and Exclusions

#### Certification

A production or handling operation or part thereof "that produces or handles crops, livestock, livestock products, or other agricultural products that are intended to be sold, labeled, or represented" as "organic" must comply with the certification requirements and all other applicable NOP requirements, unless exempted or excluded. "Certification" is a determination made by an accredited certifying agent that an operation has complied with all applicable requirements in the OFPA and the final rule. <sup>17</sup>

#### **Exemptions**

Four types of operations are exempted from certification requirements. The first is a production or handling operation that has a gross annual income from sales of organic products totaling \$5,000.00 or less.<sup>18</sup> This exemption is intended primarily for the benefit of producers who market their product(s) directly to consumers.<sup>19</sup> This would include, for example, producers who sell their product(s) at farmers' markets or directly to "retail food establishments" for resale to consumers.<sup>20</sup> A "retail food establishment" is "[a] restaurant; delicatessen; bakery; grocery store; or any retail outlet with an in-store restaurant, delicatessen, bakery, salad bar, or other eat-in or carryout service of processed or prepared raw and ready-to-eat-food.<sup>21</sup>

An operation exempted under the "\$5,000.00 or less" standard must comply, however, with the applicable organic production and handling requirements, except for the requirement that it submit an organic system plan.<sup>22</sup> The operation must also comply with the labeling requirements for exempted and excluded operations.<sup>23</sup> In addition, products derived from an operation exempted under the

Note that exemption and exclusion are separate concepts, each containing it own set of standards.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.100(a).

See *id.* at § 205.2 (defining "certification" or "certified"). The certification requirements are addressed in Part E of this article.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See id. at § 205.101(a)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,552 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> 7 C.F.R. at § 205.2.

See *id.* at § 205.101(a)(1). The organic production and handling requirements, including the requirements for submitting an organic system plan, are discussed in Part C of this article.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See *id.* Labeling requirements for exempted and excluded operations are discussed in Part D of this article.

"\$5,000.00 or less" standard cannot be used as ingredients in processed products identified as "organic" produced by another handling operation.<sup>24</sup>

Any retail food establishment or portion thereof that handles organic products but does not process them is also exempted from the certification requirements.<sup>25</sup> There are no other requirements in either the OFPA or the final rule with which a retail food establishment falling under this exemption must comply.

A handling operation that only handles agricultural products containing less than seventy percent organic ingredients by total weight of the finished product is also exempted from the requirements for certification. This type of operation, however, must comply with (1) the standards for avoiding the commingling and contact of organic products with prohibited substances; (2) the labeling standards applicable to exempt or excluded operations; (3) the labeling standards for multiingredient packaged products with less than seventy percent organic ingredients; and (4) the recordkeeping requirements for exempted operations.

The final type of exempted operation is a handling operation that identifies ingredients as "organic" only on the information panel.<sup>29</sup> An "information panel" is

[t]hat part of the label of a packaged product that is immediately contiguous to and to the right of the principal display panel as observed by an individual facing the principal display panel, unless another section of the label is designated as the information panel because of package size or other package attributes (e.g., irregular shape with one useable surface).<sup>30</sup>

A "principal display panel" is the "part of a label that is most likely to be displayed, presented, shown, or examined under customary conditions of display for sale."<sup>31</sup>

This type of exempted operation must comply with (1) the provisions for the prevention of contact of organic products with prohibited substances; (2) the labeling requirements for multiingredient products containing less than seventy percent organically produced ingredients; (3)

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See id. at § 205.101(a)(2).

See id. at § 205.101(a)(3). The total weight of the finished product excludes the weight of water and salt in the product. The standards for calculating the organic composition of a product are discussed in Part D of this article and are found at 7 C.F.R. § 205.302.

See 7 C.F.R. § 205.2 (defining "prohibited substance" as "[a] substance the use of which in any aspect of organic production or handling is prohibited or not provided for" in the [OFPA] or the final rule).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> See id. at § 205.101(a)(3)(i)-(iii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See id. at § 205.101(a)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> *Id.* 

the labeling requirements for exempted and excluded operations; and (4) the recordkeeping requirements for exempted operations.<sup>32</sup>

#### **Exclusions**

There are two types of operations that are excluded from the requirements for certification.<sup>33</sup> The first are handling operations that sell only "organic" products that are packaged or otherwise enclosed in a container before the operation receives or acquires the product and "remain in the same package or container and are not otherwise processed while in the control of the handling operation."<sup>34</sup> The prefatory comments to the final rule explain that this exclusion is designed to avoid creating an unnecessary barrier for handlers who distribute nonorganic products and also want to offer a selection of organic products.<sup>35</sup> These operations must comply with the standards for preventing the commingling and contact of organic products with prohibited substances.

The second type of excluded operations are retail food establishments or portions thereof that process on their premises "raw and ready-to-eat food from products that were previously labeled" as "organic." These operations must comply with the labeling requirements specifically applicable to agricultural products produced on exempted and excluded operations and the standards for preventing the commingling and contact of organic agricultural products with prohibited substances.<sup>37</sup>

With respect to exempted and excluded retail food establishments, the prefatory comments to the final rule state the following:

[T]here is clearly a great deal of public concern regarding the handling of organic products by retail food establishments. We have not required certification of retail food establishments at this time because of a lack of consensus as to whether retail food establishments should be certified, a lack of consensus on retailer certification standards, and a concern about the capacity of existing certifying agents to certify the sheer volume of such businesses. Retail food establishments, not exempt under the Act, could at some future date be subject to regulation under the NOP. Any such regulation would be preceded by rulemaking with an opportunity for public comment.<sup>38</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See id. at § 205.101(a)(4)(i)-(iii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> See id. at § 205.101(b)(1)-(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> *Id.* at § 205.101(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,552 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.101(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> See id. at § 205.101(b)(I)-(ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,553 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments). An operation that satisfies the criteria for an exempted or excluded operation may voluntarily opt to be certified.

#### 2. Recordkeeping Requirements for Certified, Exempted, and Excluded Operations

#### Certified Operations

A certified operation must maintain records that relate to the "production or handling of agricultural products sold or labeled as organically produced" for five years beyond the date the records are created.<sup>39</sup> The records must include a detailed history of the substances applied to the operation's fields or agricultural products, the names and addresses of the persons who applied the substances, the dates and rates the substances were applied, and the method used to apply the substances.<sup>40</sup> The records must "[b]e adapted to the particular business that the certified operation is conducting" and must provide full disclosure of all "activities and transactions" of the operation "in sufficient detail as to be readily understood and audited."<sup>41</sup> They must also be sufficient to demonstrate that the operation has complied with all applicable NOP requirements.<sup>42</sup> The records must be available during normal business hours to representatives of the Secretary, the State official governing a State's organic program, if applicable, and the certifying agent for inspection and copying.<sup>43</sup>

#### **Exempted Operations**

An exempted operation must maintain records sufficient to demonstrate that ingredients identified as "organic" were organically produced and handled and to verify the quantities produced from those ingredients.<sup>44</sup> The records must be kept for at least three years after they are created.<sup>45</sup> Representatives of the Secretary and the state official governing a state organic program, if applicable, must be allowed access to the records for inspection and copying during normal business hours.<sup>46</sup>

#### **Excluded Operations**

Recordkeeping requirements for excluded operations are confusing and unsettled. There are no recordkeeping requirements in the OFPA or the final rule specifically applicable to excluded operations. In describing the qualifications for excluded operations, the final rule expressly states that the first type of excluded operation—a handling operation that sells "organic" products that are received and maintained in an enclosed package or container and are not processed by the operation—is "excluded from the requirements of this part, except for the requirements for the prevention of commingling and contact with prohibited substances as set forth in § 205.272 . . . . ."<sup>47</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> 7 U.S.C. § 6511(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> See id. at § 6511(d)(1)-(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.103(a)(1)-(2).

<sup>42</sup> See id. at § 205.103(a)(3)-(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> See id. at § 205.103(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> See id. at § 205.101(c)(1)(i)-(ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> See id. at § 205.101(c)(2).

<sup>46</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> *Id.* at § 205.101(b)(1).

The final rule states that the second type of excluded operation—a retail food establishment or portion thereof that processes raw and ready-to-eat food from products certified as "organic"—is "excluded from the requirements in this part, except . . . the requirements for the prevention of contact with prohibited substances as set forth in § 205.272 . . . and . . . the labeling provisions of § 205.310."<sup>48</sup>

In neither of these provisions does the final rule reference recordkeeping requirements for either type of excluded operation, leading one to conclude perhaps that no such recordkeeping requirements exist. The AMS, however, signals in its prefatory comments to the final rule that excluded operations are subject to recordkeeping requirements. Specifically, the comments state, in pertinent part, that "[e]ach exempt, excluded, and certified operation should maintain the records which demonstrate compliance with the Act and the regulations applicable to it and . . . establish . . . that the exempt, excluded, or certified operation is and has been in compliance with the Act and the regulations."<sup>49</sup>

In response to comments made concerning the recordkeeping requirements for excluded operations, the AMS also stated in its prefatory comments to the final rule the following:

[S]everal commenters argued that excluded operations should be required to comply with the same recordkeeping requirements as exempt operations. Some commenters expressed concern over the inability to verify compliance for either exempt or excluded operations and asked that exempt or excluded operations be subject to additional recordkeeping requirements. We disagree with these commenters and have retained the provisions from the proposed rule on recordkeeping for excluded operations. Given the nature of these excluded operations . . . we believe that extensive recordkeeping requirements would be an unwarranted regulatory burden. <sup>50</sup>

The AMS's acknowledgment that it rejected the argument that "excluded operations should be required to comply with the same recordkeeping requirements as exempt operations" indicates that it believes there are separate recordkeeping requirements for exempt and excluded operations. However, the only recordkeeping requirements contained in the final rule apply to certified and exempted operations. There is no reference to excluded operations in either set of recordkeeping requirements.

Moreover, although the AMS states that it "retained the provisions from the proposed rule on recordkeeping for excluded operations," a review of the proposed rule reveals that there were no such requirements contained in the proposed rule. Thus, it is not entirely clear whether excluded operations must comply with any recordkeeping requirements and, if so, what those requirements would specifically be.<sup>51</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> *Id.* at § 205.101(b)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,553 (prefatory comments to the final rule with request for comments).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Id. at 80,555 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments) (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> At § 205.307(c), the final rule references "recordkeeping requirements for exempt and excluded operations under § 205.101." This point is not discussed in this part of this article but is addressed in Part D.

#### 3. Allowed and Prohibited Substances, Methods, and Ingredients

For a certified operation to sell, label, or represent a product as "organic," it must produce or handle the product without the use of synthetic substances and ingredients, unless the substances or ingredients are specifically listed as allowed on the national list of approved substances ("National List"). <sup>52</sup> A "synthetic" is "[a] substance that is formulated or manufactured by a chemical process or by a process that chemically changes a substance extracted from naturally occurring plant, animal, or mineral sources, except that such term shall not apply to substances created by naturally occurring biological processes."<sup>53</sup>

Certified operations must also produce and handle products without the use of prohibited nonsynthetic substances. A "nonsynthetic substance" is "[a] substance that is derived from mineral, plant, or animal matter and does not undergo a synthetic process . . . ." In addition, certified operations must produce and handle products without the use of "nonagricultural substances" or "nonorganic agricultural substances" in or on processed products, unless the substance is specifically included on the National List. A "nonagricultural substance" is

[a] substance that is not a product of agriculture, such as a mineral or a bacterial culture, that is used as an ingredient in an agricultural product. For the purposes of this part, a nonagricultural ingredient also includes any substance, such as gums, citric acid, or pectin, that is extracted from, isolated from, or a fraction of an agricultural product so that the identity of the agricultural product is unrecognizable in the extract, isolate, or fraction.<sup>57</sup>

Finally, certified operations must produce and handle products without the use of (1) excluded methods, except for vaccines that are listed as approved on the National List; (2) ionizing radiation; and (3) sewage sludge. Excluded methods are "methods used to genetically modify organisms or influence their growth and development by means that are not possible under natural conditions or processes and are not considered compatible with organic production. Such methods include "cell fusion, microencapsulation and macroencapsulation, and recombinant DNA technology (including gene deletion, gene doubling, introducing a foreign gene, and changing the positions of genes when

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.105. See also 7 C.F.R. §§ 205.601 & 205.603.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> 7 U.S.C. § 6502(21). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.2 (defining "ingredient" as "[a]ny substance used in the preparation of an agricultural product that is still present in the final commercial product as consumed.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> See *id.* at § 205.105(b). Some nonsynthetic substances may be listed as an allowed nonsynthetic substance on the National List.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

See *id.* at § 205.105(c)-(d). The list of allowed nonagricultural substances and nonorganic agricultural substances is found at 7 C.F.R. §§ 205.605 and 205.606, respectively. The list is discussed in Part G of this article.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.2. The term "nonorganic agricultural substance" is not defined in either the OFPA nor the final rule.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> See id. at § 205.105(e)-(g).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

achieved by recombinant DNA technology)."<sup>60</sup> "Excluded methods" do not include "the use of traditional breeding, conjugation, fermentation, hybridization, in vitro fertilization, or tissue culture."<sup>61</sup>

As originally proposed, NOP did not expressly prohibit the use of excluded methods in all aspects of organic production and handling. Instead, the prohibition was included within several requirements and scattered throughout the proposed rule. Because of this, concerns developed over whether it was clear that the prohibition on excluded methods applied to all aspects of organic production and handling. In the final rule the AMS created a new provision that prohibits the use of excluded methods and included it in the "Applicability" subpart of the final rule to make it clear that use of excluded methods is prohibited in all aspects of organic production and handling.

"Sewage sludge" is "[a] solid, semisolid, or liquid residue generated during the treatment of domestic sewage in a treatment works." It includes, but is not limited to, "domestic septage; scum or solid removed in primary, secondary, or advanced wastewater treatment processes; and a material derived from sewage sludge." It does not include "ash generated during the firing of sewage sludge in a sewage sludge incinerator or grit and screenings generated during preliminary treatment of domestic sewage in a treatment works." <sup>68</sup>

Although the term "biosolids" is commonly used to refer to "sewage sludge," the term "biosolids" was not used in the final rule because there was not a standardized definition of "biosolids" under federal regulations. <sup>69</sup> Therefore, the AMS adopted the definition of "sewage sludge" from the definition used in the Environmental Protection Agency's ("EPA") regulations governing the use or disposal of "sewage sludge." <sup>70</sup> The EPA's definition of "sewage sludge," and therefore the NOP's definition of "sewage sludge," does not include ash, grit, or screenings. Thus, at first glance one might conclude that the use of ash, grit, or screenings is permitted in organic production. As the prefatory comments explain, however,

[w]hile commenters are correct that ash, grit, or screenings from the production of sewage sludge are not prohibited by this definition, these materials are prohibited elsewhere in the regulation. The soil fertility and crop nutrient management practice

<sup>61</sup> *Id.* 

62 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,554 (prefatory comments to final rule with requests for comments).

64 See id.

<sup>65</sup> See id.

<sup>66</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.2.

67 *Id.* 

<sup>68</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>69</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,551 (prefatory comments to final rule with requests for comments).

<sup>70</sup> See id. See also 40 C.F.R. § 503.1(w) (defining "sewage sludge").

<sup>60</sup> *ld*.

<sup>63</sup> See id.

standard in section 205.203 establishes the universe of allowed materials and practices. These allowed materials and practices are crop rotations, cover crops, plant and animal materials (including their ash), nonagricultural, natural materials, and, under appropriate conditions, mined substances of low and high solubility and synthetic materials included on the National List. Ash, grit, or screenings from the production of sewage sludge cannot be included in any of these categories and, therefore, cannot be used in organic production . . . . We have not added specific exclusions for sewage sludge, ash, grit, or screenings because these materials are prohibited through other provisions in the practice standard.<sup>71</sup>

The standards governing ionizing radiation are not found in either the OFPA or the final rule, but are located in the regulations administered by the Food and Drug Administration that govern the use of irradiation in the production, handling, and processing of food. The standards governing the use of ionizing radiation are located at 21 C.F.R. § 179.26.

#### C. Organic Production and Handling Standards

For a producer or handler of a production or handling operation to sell, label, or represent products as "organic," the producer or handler must comply with all applicable organic production and handling requirements.<sup>74</sup> The organic production and handling standards contain requirements for organic system plans, crop production, livestock production, and organic handling.

#### 1. Organic System Plan

A producer or handler of a production or handling operation seeking certification, unless exempted or excluded from the certification requirements, must submit an "organic system plan" to its certifying agent or, if applicable, to the governing official of its state's organic program. An "organic system plan" is "[a] plan of management of an organic production or handling operation that has been agreed to by the producer or handler and the certifying agent and that includes written plans concerning all aspects of agricultural production or handling" as set forth in OFPA and the final rule's organic production and handling requirements. The prefatory comments to the final rule explain that the organic system plan "is the forum through which the producer or handler and certifying agent collaborate to define, on a site-specific basis, how to achieve and document compliance with the requirements of certification."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,551 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.105(f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,551 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

See 7 C.F.R. § 205.200. See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.200 (requiring that production practices implemented pursuant to the organic production and handling requirements "maintain or improve the natural resources of the operation, including soil and water quality").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> 7 U.S.C. § 6513. See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.201.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> 7 U.S.C. § 6502(13). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,558 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

An organic system plan must describe the practices and procedures that the producer or handler will implement and maintain in its operation. It must also explain how often these practices and procedures will be performed. The requirement that the organic system plan explain how often the practices and procedures will be performed requires, according the prefatory comments, a plan to include an implementation schedule that describes the timing and sequence of activities such as crop rotation, timing and location of soil tests, or the addition of feed supplements to livestock feed. The practices and procedures will be performed requires.

The prefatory comments describe "practices" as tangible techniques, "such as the method of applying manure, the mechanical and biological methods used to prepare and combine ingredients and package finished products, and the measures taken to exclude pests from a facility."<sup>81</sup> The comments describe "procedures" as the decision-making process used to implement the plan, such as the process for locating commercially available, organically produced seed.<sup>82</sup>

The organic system plan must also describe the monitoring practices and procedures that will be used in the operation to verify that the plan is implemented effectively, including a description of how often the monitoring practices and procedures will be performed. Elaborating on this requirement, the prefatory comments explain that producers and handlers are required to identify "measurable indicators" that will be used to monitor the degree to which the production objectives for the operation are being met. For example, if an organic system plan calls for improvements in soil organic matter content in a particular field, it would include provisions for analyzing soil organic matter levels at periodic intervals. Also, if herd health improvement is an objective stated in the plan, factors such as somatic cell count or observations about changes in reproductive patterns might be used as indicators. The indicators used to monitor a particular organic system plan are determined by the producer or handler through consultation with the certifying agent.

The organic system plan must include a description of the recordkeeping system that a producer or handler will use in its operation to ensure compliance with the recordkeeping requirements for certified operations.<sup>88</sup> The prefatory comments state that this description must be sufficient to verify and document an audit trail for the operation and that, with respect to "each crop or wild-crop harvested, the audit trail must trace the product from the field, farm parcel, or area where it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.201(a)(1).

<sup>79</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,558 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>82</sup> See id.

<sup>83</sup> See id. at § 205.201(a)(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,559 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

<sup>85</sup> See id.

<sup>86</sup> See id.

<sup>87</sup> See id.

<sup>88 7</sup> C.F.R. § 205.201(a)(4).

is harvested through the transfer of legal title." With respect to livestock operations, the description must be sufficient to trace each animal from the time it enters the operation until the animal is removed from the operation. For handling operations, the operation must trace each product sold, labeled, or represented as "organic" "from the receipt of its constituent ingredients to the sale of the processed product."

The organic system plan must also include a description of the management practices that a producer or handler will implement "to prevent commingling of organic and nonorganic products on a split operation and to prevent contact of organic production and handling operations and products with prohibited substances." "The plan must list the substances that will be used in the operation, including a description of the substances' "composition, source, location(s) where it will be used, and documentation of commercial availability, as applicable." Finally, the plan must include any information required by the certifying agent to verify that a producer or handler of a production or handling operation has complied with NOP requirements. 94

A producer is permitted to submit a substitute organic system a plan that is designed to comply with the requirements of another federal, state, or local government's regulatory program. <sup>95</sup> Any substituted plan must comply with all applicable organic production and handling requirements. <sup>96</sup>

#### 2. Crop Production

The organic production and handling standards governing crop production include (1) land management requirements; (2) soil fertility and crop nutrient management practice requirements; (3) requirements governing the use of seeds and planting stock; (4) requirements governing crop rotation; (5) requirements for crop pest, weed, and disease management; and (6) requirements governing the harvesting of "wild crops."

#### (i). Land Requirements

Under the land requirements, "[a]ny field or farm parcel from which harvested crops are intended to be sold, labeled, or represented as 'organic,'" must not have had any prohibited

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,559 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

<sup>90</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>92 7</sup> C.F.R. § 205.201(a)(5).

<sup>93</sup> *Id.* at § 205.201(a)(2).

See id. at § 205.201(a)(6). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.201(b) (stating that "[a] producer may substitute a plan prepared to meet the requirements of another Federal, state, or local government regulatory program for the organic system plan," as long as "the submitted plan meets all the requirements of this subpart.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.201(b). The final rule does not state that handlers are permitted to substitute an organic system plan designed to comply with the requirements of another federal, state, or local government's regulatory program.

<sup>96</sup> See id.

substances applied to it for the three years preceding the harvest of the crop. The prefatory comments emphasize that this prohibition relates only to the application of the substance and not to the residual effects of the substance. Thus, a producer could apply a prohibited substance to its soil that remains in the soil beyond three years but begin harvesting organic crops three years from the date of application, even though the crop would be in contact with the prohibited substance. The comments state that if the AMS receives evidence that use of this production practice threatens to compromise organic production, steps must be taken to remedy the situation.

The field or farm parcel must also "[h]ave distinct, defined boundaries and buffer zones such as runoff diversions to prevent the unintended application of a prohibited substance to the crop or contact with a prohibited substance applied to adjoining land that is not under organic management." A "buffer zone" is

[a]n area located between a certified production operation or portion of a production operation and an adjacent land area that is not maintained under organic management. A buffer zone must be sufficient in size or other features (e.g., windbreaks or a diversion ditch) to prevent the possibility of unintended contact by prohibited substances applied to adjacent land areas with an area that is part of a certified operation. <sup>101</sup>

The land requirements also require a producer to use its field or farm parcel in accordance with the soil fertility and crop nutrient management practice requirements, requirements governing the use of seeds and planting stock, requirements for crop rotation, and requirements for crop pest, weed, and disease management.

#### (ii). Soil Fertility and Crop Nutrient Management Practice Standard

Under the soil fertility and crop nutrient standards, a producer must "select and implement tillage and cultivation practices that maintain or improve the physical, chemical, and biological condition of soil and minimize soil erosion." A producer must also manage crop nutrients and soil fertility by rotating crops, using cover crops, and by applying plant and animal materials to the land. <sup>103</sup>

The plant and animal materials must be managed by the producer "to maintain or improve soil organic matter content in a manner that does not contribute to contamination of crops, soil, or water by plant nutrients, pathogenic organisms, heavy metals, or residues of prohibited substances." Plant and animal materials include raw animal manure, which must be composted unless (1) it is used

<sup>100</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.202(c).

<sup>102</sup> See id. at § 205.203(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> See id. at § 205.202(b). See supra text accompanying notes 54-76.

<sup>98 65</sup> Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,568 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

<sup>99</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> *Id.* at 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> See id. at § 205.203(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> *Id.* at § 205.203(c).

to produce a crop that is not for human consumption; (2) put into the soil at least 120 days before "the harvest of a product whose edible portion has direct contact with the soil surface or soil particles"; or (3) put into the soil at least "90 days prior to the harvest of a product whose edible portion does not have direct contact with the soil surface or soil particles."

Plant and animal materials also include composted plant and animal materials that are produced through a process that creates an initial carbon to nitrogen ratio "of between 25:1 and 40:1," maintained at a temperature between 131 degrees Fahrenheit and 170 degrees Fahrenheit for three days using an in-vessel or static aerated pile system, or maintained at a temperature of between 131 degrees Fahrenheit and 170 degrees Fahrenheit "for 15 days using a windrow composting system, during which period, the material be must turned a minimum of five times." "Compost" is "[t]he product of a managed process through which microorganisms break down plant and animal materials into more available forms suitable for application to the soil." Plant and animal materials include uncomposted plant materials as well. 108

The prefatory comments to the final rule explain that the 25:1 to 40:1 range is used to ensure that producers will "establish appropriate conditions under which the additional requirements in this practice standard, most notably the time and temperature criteria, can be achieved with minimal producer oversight." The comments also state that the producer is required to develop in its organic system plan the management strategies and monitoring techniques that will be used in its composting system. 110

A producer may use, for the purpose of managing soil fertility and crop nutrients, (1) crop nutrients or soil amendments that are listed as an allowed synthetic substance on the National List; (2) a "mined substance of low solubility"; (3) a mined substance of high solubility, as long as the mined substance is used in accordance with the conditions set forth on the National List for prohibited nonsynthetic materials prohibited from use in organic crop production; (4) ash derived from the burning of a plant or animal material, subject to certain exceptions; and (5) "plant or animal material that has been chemically altered by a manufacturing process," subject to certain exceptions.<sup>111</sup>

Ash derived from the burning of plant or animal material cannot be used in organic crop production if the burned material has been "treated or combined with a prohibited substance." Ash

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> *Id.* at § 205.203(c)(1)(i) - (iii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> *Id.* at § 205.203(c)(2)(i)-(iii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

See *id.* at § 205.203(c)(1)-(3). Composted plant and animal materials must be produced through a specific scientific process. This process is set forth in the regulations and is not discussed in this article.

<sup>109 65</sup> Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,565 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.203(d)(1)-(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> *Id.* at § 205.203(d)(4).

cannot be used if it is listed as a prohibited nonsynthetic substance on the National List. <sup>113</sup> In addition, ash cannot be used in crop production if it is produced from burning that was conducted for the purpose of disposing of crop residues produced on an operation. <sup>114</sup> "Crop residues" are plant parts, including stalks, stems, leaves, roots, and weeds, that remain in a field after a crop is harvested. <sup>115</sup> Burning may be used, however, if it is used to curb the spread of disease or to stimulate seed germination. <sup>116</sup> A plant or animal material that has been chemically altered by a manufacturing process can only be used if the plant or animal material is listed as an allowed synthetic substance on the National List. <sup>117</sup>

A producer cannot use fertilizers or composted materials containing a synthetic substance unless it is listed as an allowed substance on the National List. A producer is also prohibited from using sewage sludge, also referred to as biosolids, as defined by the Environmental Protection Agency's regulations governing the use and disposal of biosolids.

#### (iii). Seeds and Planting Stock Practice Standard

As a general rule, a producer must use organically grown seeds, annual seedlings, and planting stock in their operations. An "annual seedling" is "[a] plant grown from seed that will complete its life cycle or produce a harvestable yield within the same crop year or season in which it was planted." Planting stock" is "[a]ny plant or plant tissue other than annual seedlings but including rhizomes, shoots, leaf or stem cuttings, roots, or tubers, used in plant production or propagation."

There are five exceptions to this general rule. First, a producer may use nonorganically produced, untreated seeds and planting stock "when an equivalent organically produced variety is not commercially available." However, organically produced seeds must always be used when producing edible sprouts. Second, nonorganically produced seeds and planting stock that have been treated with a substance listed as an allowed substance on the National List of synthetic

<sup>123</sup> *Id.* at § 205.204(a)(1).

16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> See *id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> See id. at § 205.305(e)(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> See id. at § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> See id. at § 205.203(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> See id. at § 205.203(e)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> See id. See generally 40 C.F.R. Part 503. See supra text accompanying notes 69-76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.204(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>124</sup> See id.

substances "may be used to produce an organic crop when an equivalent organically produced or untreated variety is not commercially available." Third, nonorganically produced annual seedlings may be used in an organic crop production operation if a temporary variance has been granted. The requirements and conditions for obtaining a temporary variance are discussed below. Fourth, nonorganically produced planting stock that will be used "to produce a perennial crop may be sold, labeled, or represented as organically produced only after the planting stock has been maintained under a system of organic management for a period of no less than 1 year." Fifth, seeds, annual seedlings, and planting stock that have been treated with a prohibited substance may be used if the application of the substance is required by either federal or state phytosanitary regulations. <sup>128</sup>

#### (iv). Crop Rotation Practice Standard

A producer must implement a "crop rotation" practice in its operation. 129 "Crop rotation" is

[t]he practice of alternating the annual crops grown on a specific field in a planned pattern or sequence in successive crop years so that crops of the same species or family are not grown repeatedly without interruption on the same field. Perennial cropping systems employ means such as alley cropping, intercropping, and hedgerows to introduce biological diversity in lieu of crop rotation.<sup>130</sup>

The crop rotation must (1) maintain or improve "soil organic matter content"; (2) allow for pest management in annual and perennial crops; (3) manage plant nutrients; and (4) provide for erosion control. Crop rotation includes, but is not limited to, "sod, cover crops, green manure crops, and catch crops" that meet these four requirements. 132

#### (v). Crop Pest, Weed, and Disease Management Practice Standard

A producer must also implement management practices designed to prevent crop pests, weeds, and diseases.<sup>133</sup> The required management practices include, but are not limited to (1) the crop rotation practice standard; (2) soil and crop nutrient management practices standard; (3) sanitation measures designed to remove "disease vectors, weed seeds, and habitat for pest organisms"; and (4) cultural methods that "enhance crop health, including selection of plant species

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> See id. at § 205.204(a)(2).

See *id.* at § 205.204(a)(3). The provisions governing when a temporary variance may be granted pursuant to § 205.204(a)(3) are found at 7 C.F.R. § 205.290.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.204(a)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> See id. at § 205.204(a)(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> See id. at § 205.205.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> See id. at § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> See id. at § 205.205(a) - (d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> See id. at § 205.206.

and varieties with regard to suitability to site-specific conditions and resistance to prevent prevalent pests, weeds, and diseases." 134

"Disease vectors" are "[p]lants or animals that harbor or transmit disease organisms or pathogens which may attack crops or livestock." "Cultural methods" are methods that are "used to enhance crop health and prevent weed, pest, or disease problems without the use of substances." "136"

Pests may be controlled by mechanical or physical methods that include using predators or parasites of the pest species, development of habitat that supports natural enemies of the pest species, and nonsynthetic means such as traps and repellents. Weeds may be controlled by mulching with biodegradable materials or by plastic or other types of synthetic mulches if removed from the field when the growing or harvest season has ended. Mulch is "[a]ny nonsynthetic material, such as wood chips, leaves, or straw, or any synthetic material included on the National List for such use, such as newspaper or plastic that serves to suppress weed growth, moderate soil temperature, or conserve soil moisture."

Hand weeding, mechanical cultivation, mowing, livestock grazing, and flame, heat, or electrical means may also be used to control weeds. Disease problems can be controlled by using management practices that prevent the spread of disease organisms or by applying "nonsynthetic biological, botanical, or mineral inputs." If any of these practices are used and do not sufficiently control pests, weeds, or diseases, a "biological or botanical substance" included on the National List of allowed synthetic substances may be used. The conditions for using the substance must be included in the organic system plan. Finally, a producer is prohibited from using lumber treated with arsenate or any other prohibited materials "for new installations or replacement purposes in contact with soil or livestock."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> *Id.* at § 205.206(a)(1) - (2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> *Id.* See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.2 (stating that examples of cultural methods include "the selection of appropriate varieties and planting sites; proper timing and density of plantings; irrigation; and extending a growing season by manipulating the microclimate with green houses, cold frames, or wind breaks").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.206(b)(1)-(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> See id. at § 205.206(c)(1), (6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> See id. at § 205.206(c)(2)-(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> See id. at § 205.206(d)(1)-(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> See id. at § 205.206(e).

See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> *Id.* at § 205.206(f).

#### (vi). Wild Crop Harvesting Practice Standard

In addition to the standards discussed above, the final rule establishes requirements that pertain specifically to the production and handling of "wild crops." A "wild crop" is "[a]ny plant or portion of a plant that is collected or harvested from a site that is not maintained under cultivation or other agricultural management."

Any wild crop that is intended to be sold, labeled, or represented as "organic" must be harvested from an area that has not had any prohibited substance applied to it for the three years preceding the harvest of the crop. Wild crop harvesting must be done in a manner that is not destructive to the environment and that "will sustain the growth and production of the wild crop."

The prefatory comments explain that the term "site" is used in the final rule's definition of "wild crop," rather than the term "land," which was the term used in the proposed rule, to make clear its intent that the final rule allows for the certification and harvest of aquatic plants. <sup>149</sup> The comments also explain that producers of wild crops must comply with the applicable organic system plan requirements. <sup>150</sup> Finally, the comments state that the AMS expects certifying agents to incorporate mapping and boundary conditions into the organic system plan requirements for operations that harvest wild crops. <sup>151</sup>

#### 3. Livestock Production Requirements

The organic production and handling requirements for livestock production establish requirements governing the (1) origins of livestock; (2) composition of livestock feed; (3) health care practices for livestock; and (4) living conditions for livestock.

#### (i). Origin of Livestock

As a general rule, livestock products intended to be sold, labeled, or represented as "organic" must be produced from livestock raised "under continuous organic management from the last third of gestation or hatching." There are three exceptions to this general rule.

First, poultry or edible poultry products must be raised under continuous organic management from no later than the second day of life. Second, milk or milk products must be produced from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> See id. at § 205.207.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> See id. at § 205.207(a). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.207(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,566 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.236(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> See id.

dairy animals "that have been under continuous organic management beginning no later than 1 year prior to the production of the milk or milk products . . . ."<sup>154</sup> However, in the event that a producer converts an "entire, distinct herd" of dairy animals from a nonorganic production system into an organic one, the producer may provide for the first nine months of the first year in which the herd is converted "a minimum of 80-percent feed that is either organic or raised from land included in the organic system plan and managed in compliance with [the] organic crop requirements." For the final three months of the year, producers may provide feed to the herd in accordance with the livestock feed requirements. <sup>156</sup>

Whenever a herd is converted, however, producers must raise all dairy animals from the last third of gestation in accordance with applicable standards set forth in the OFPA and the final rule. The prefatory comments state that "the conversion provision cannot be used routinely to bring nonorganically raised animals into an organic operation. It is a one-time opportunity for producers working with a certifying agent to implement a conversion strategy for an established, discrete dairy herd in conjunction with the land resources that sustain it."

The third exception applies to "breeder livestock." "Breeder livestock" are "[f]emale livestock whose offspring may be incorporated into an organic operation at the time of their birth." Breeder stock can be transferred from a nonorganic operation to an organic one at any time. If breeding stock transferred into the operation is gestating and any offspring of that animal are to be raised as organic, then the breeding stock must be transferred no later than the last third of gestation. If 2

A livestock producer is prohibited from selling, labeling, or representing livestock or edible livestock products as "organic" if the livestock has been transferred from an organic operation to a nonorganic one. A producer is also prohibited from selling, labeling, or representing any breeder stock or dairy stock as "slaughter stock" if the breeder stock has not been "under continuous organic management since the last third of gestation." Slaughter stock" is "[a]ny animal that is intended to be slaughtered for consumption by humans or other animals." Finally, a livestock producer is

<sup>163</sup> See id. at § 205.236(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> *Id.* at § 205.236(a)(2).

<sup>155</sup> *Id.* at § 205.236(a)(2)(i).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> See id. at § 205.236(a)(2)(ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> See id. at § 205.236(a)(2)(iii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,570 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.236(a)(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> See id. at § 205.236(a)(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> See id. at § 205.236(b)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

required to "maintain records sufficient to preserve the identity of all organically managed animals and edible and nonedible animal products produced on the operation." <sup>166</sup>

#### (ii). Livestock Feed

As a general rule, livestock must be given a feed ration that is composed entirely of organically produced agricultural products and, if applicable, organically handled agricultural products. The term "feed" is defined as "edible materials which are consumed by livestock for their nutritional value. Feed" includes grains, hay, silage, pasture, and fodder. Synthetic and nonsynthetic substances that are listed as allowed on the National List may be used as feed additives and supplements. A "feed additive" is a substance that is added to feed in micro quantities to fulfill a specific nutritional need, such as "essential nutrients in the form of amino acids, vitamins, and minerals.

combination of feed nutrients added to livestock feed to improve the nutrient balance or performance of the total ration and intended to be . . . [d]iluted with other feeds when fed to livestock; . . . [o]ffered free choice with other parts of the ration if separately available; or . . . [f]urther diluted and mixed to produce a complete feed. 172

A livestock producer may not use animal drugs to promote an animal's growth, provide feed supplements or additives in excess of the amount needed for the animal's nutrition and health maintenance, use plastic feed pellets for roughage, or use feed formulas that contain urea or manure.<sup>173</sup> An "animal drug" is "[a]ny drug as defined in section 201 of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as amended . . ., that is intended for use in livestock, including any drug intended for use in livestock feed but not including such livestock feed."<sup>174</sup> Producers are also prohibited from feeding "mammalian or poultry slaughter by-products to mammals or poultry" and from using "feed, feed additives, and feed supplements in violation of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act."<sup>175</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> *Id.* at 205.236(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> See id. at § 205.237(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> See id. See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.237(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.237(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> See id. at § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> See id. at § 205.237(b)(1) - (4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2. *See also* 21 U.S.C. §§ 301-395 (Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act) & 21 U.S.C. § 321(g)(1)-(2) (defining "drug" and "counterfeit drug").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.237(b)(5)-(6).

#### (iii). Livestock Health Care Practice Standard

An organic livestock producer is required to "establish and maintain preventive livestock health care practices." These practices include selecting livestock suited for site-specific conditions and for resistance to prevalent diseases and parasites, providing a feed ration that satisfies nutritional requirements for particular livestock, and establishing housing, pasture conditions, and sanitation practices that minimize the spreading of diseases and parasites. <sup>177</sup>

A producer must also administer vaccines and other "veterinary biologics" when needed.<sup>178</sup> "Biologics" are defined as "[a]II viruses, serums, toxins, and analogous products of natural or synthetic origin, such as diagnostics, antitoxins, vaccines, live microorganisms, killed microorganisms, and the antigenic or immunizing components of microorganisms intended for use in the diagnosis, treatment, or prevention of diseases of animals."<sup>179</sup>

In addition, a producer must provide living conditions that allow "for exercise, freedom of movement, and reduction of stress" appropriate for the particular species of livestock. Physical alterations to an animal that are necessary to promote the welfare of the animal, such as debeaking poultry or removing horns from livestock, must be done in a manner that minimizes the animal's pain and stress. 181

When use of these preventive practices and veterinary biologics do not sufficiently prevent sickness in livestock, a producer is allowed to administer synthetic medications to the livestock, as long as the medication is listed on the National List as a synthetic substance allowed for use in organic livestock production. Parasiticides that are included on the National List of allowed synthetic substances may be used on breeder stock and dairy stock, subject to certain conditions. For breeder stock, the parasiticide must be used before the last third of gestation, but not during lactation for offspring intended to be sold, labeled, or represented as "organic." The parasiticide must be applied to dairy stock at least ninety days before the production of milk or milk products intended to be sold, labeled, or represented as "organic." Iss.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> *Id.* at § 205.238(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> See id. at § 205.238(a)(1)-(3).

See id. at § 205.238(6). See supra text accompanying note 60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> See id. at § 205.238(a)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> See id. at § 205.238(a)(5). See also 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,572-73 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments) (giving debeaking and horn removal as examples of physical alterations).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.238(b). This list is found at 7 C.F.R. § 205.603.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> See id. at § 205.238(b)(1)-(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> See id. at § 205.238(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> See id. at § 205.238(b)(2).

A producer is prohibited from selling, labeling, or representing any animal or edible product derived from an animal that has been treated with antibiotics, any synthetic substance not included on the National List of synthetic substances allowed for organic livestock production, or any nonsynthetic substance not included on the National List of nonsynthetic substances allowed for use in organic livestock production. A producer is prohibited from administering any animal drug, other than vaccinations, when there is no presence of illness in the livestock. In addition, a producer is prohibited from administering hormones for the purpose of growth promotion, administering synthetic parasiticides to livestock on a routine basis, and from administering parasiticides to slaughter stock. A producer is also prohibited from administering animal drugs in violation of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. Is

Finally, a livestock producer is prohibited from denying medical treatment to a sick animal with the intention of preserving the animal's organic status. <sup>190</sup> A producer must use "all appropriate medications . . . to restore an animal to health when methods acceptable to organic production fail." <sup>191</sup> Livestock that has been treated with a prohibited substance must be clearly identified and cannot be sold, labeled, or represented as organically produced. <sup>192</sup>

#### (iv). Livestock Living Conditions

A livestock producer must create and maintain living conditions for livestock that accommodate the health and natural behavior of animals on that producer's operation. Such living conditions include access to fresh air, the outdoors, exercise, clean and dry bedding, and access to pasture for ruminants. Living conditions also include providing livestock access to shelter that allows for "natural maintenance, comfort behaviors, and opportunity to exercise," establishes a temperature level and air circulation suitable to the particular species of livestock, and reduces the threat of livestock injury. A producer is allowed, however, to temporarily confine an animal as a result of inclement weather, the animal's stage of production, existing conditions that could jeopardize the animal's health, safety, or well-being, or when soil or water quality is threatened.

<sup>192</sup> See id.

23

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> See id. at § 205.238(c)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> See id. at § 205.238(c)(2).

<sup>88</sup> See id. at § 205.238(c)(3)-(5). See id. at § 205.2 (defining "routine use of parasiticide").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> See id. at § 205.238(c)(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> See id. at § 205.238(7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> See id. at § 205.239(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> See id. at § 205.239(a)(1) - (3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> See id. at § 205.239(4)(i)-(iii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> See id. at § 205.239(b).

The manure from a livestock operation must be managed "in a manner that does not contribute to contamination of crops, soil, or water by plant nutrients, heavy metals, or pathogenic organisms and optimizes recycling of nutrients." Under the final rule, "manure" is defined as "[f]eces, urine, other excrement, and bedding produced by livestock that has not been composted."

4. Handling Requirements

The handling requirements include general requirements for the handling of "organic" products, standards for managing pests in organic handling facilities, and handling requirements for preventing the commingling and contact of organic products with prohibited substances.

#### (i). Organic Handling Requirements

A handler may use mechanical or biological methods to process organic products "for the purpose of retarding spoilage or otherwise preparing the agricultural product for market."<sup>199</sup> Such methods include, but are not limited to "cooking, baking, curing, heating, drying, mixing, grinding, churning, separating, distilling, extracting, slaughtering, cutting, fermenting, eviscerating, preserving, dehydrating, freezing, chilling, or otherwise manufacturing, and the packaging, canning, jarring, or otherwise enclosing food in a container."<sup>200</sup>

A handler may use nonagricultural substances and nonorganically produced agricultural products "[i]n or on a processed agricultural product intended to be sold, labeled, or represented as 'organic," if the substance or product is not commercially available in organic form. Nonagricultural substances and nonorganically produced agricultural products may also be used if the substance or product is used "[i]n or on a processed agricultural product intended to be sold, labeled, or represented as 'made with organic (specified ingredients or food group(s))." However, in both instances the nonagricultural substance or nonorganically produced product that is used must be listed as an allowed substance or product on the National List. 203

A handler is prohibited from using ionizing radiation in or on agricultural products intended to be sold, labeled, or represented as "organic." lonizing radiation cannot be used in or on any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> *Id.* at § 205.239(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> *Id.* at § 205.270(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> *Id.* See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.2 (defining "processing").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.270(b)(1). See *supra* text accompanying note 60 (defining "nonagricultural substance").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.270(b)(2). The labeling phrase "made with organic (specified ingredients or food group(s)" is one the labeling categories created under the NOP. The labeling categories and other labeling requirements are discussed in Part D of this article.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.270(b). See § 205.605 for the list of allowable nonagricultural substances and § 205.606 for the list of allowable nonorganically produced agricultural products.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.270(c)(1). See supra text accompanying notes 61-76.

ingredients labeled as "organic." Handlers are also prohibited from using excluded methods, except for vaccines that are listed as approved on the National List. 206

A handler is also prohibited from using in or on agricultural products intended to be sold, labeled, or represented as "organic," or in or on any ingredients labeled as "organic," any "volatile synthetic solvent or other synthetic processing aid," unless the solvent or aid is listed as allowed on the National List.<sup>207</sup> However, nonorganic ingredients used in products that are labeled as "made with organic (specified ingredients or food group(s)" are not subject to this prohibition.<sup>208</sup>

#### (ii). Facility Pest Management

A handler of an organic facility is required to implement practices designed to prevent pests.<sup>209</sup> Permitted practices include, but are not limited to, the removal of habitat, food sources, and breeding areas for pests; prevention of pest access to handling facilities; and manipulation of environmental factors, such as humidity and temperature, designed to prevent pest reproduction.<sup>210</sup> A handler of an organic facility may manage existing pests by using mechanical or physical control such as traps, light, or sound.<sup>211</sup> A handler can also use lures and repellents that contain nonsynthetic or synthetic substances as long as those substances are used in accordance with the standards set forth in the National List.<sup>212</sup> If neither the preventative pest practices or practices for controlling pests existing in the facility are successful, a nonsynthetic or synthetic substance listed as allowed on the National List may be applied to the organic facility.<sup>213</sup>

In the event that none of the pest management practices described in the previous paragraph effectively prevent or control pests in an organic facility, a synthetic substance not allowed under the National List may be used.<sup>214</sup> In order to take this final measure, however, the handler and the certifying agent must agree on the substance that will be used, the method of its application, and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.270(c)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> See id. See also id. at § 205.105(e)-(f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.270(c)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> See id.

See id. at § 205.271(a). The first paragraph of the requirements contained in the facility pest management practice standard, § 205.271(a), states that the "producer or handler of an organic facility must use management practices to prevent pests . . . ." All other provisions in § 205.271 refer only to handlers, as do the prefatory comments accompanying this particular requirement. The reader should be aware that the discussion of the pest management standard in this article refers only to handlers and does not refer to producers.

 $<sup>^{210}</sup>$  7 C.F.R. § 205.271(a)(1)-(3). Environmental factors include such things as light, temperature, air flow, and humidity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> See id. at § 205.271(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> See id. at § 205.271(b)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> See id. at § 205.271(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> See id. at § 205.271(d).

measures that will be implemented to prevent contact of organic products or ingredients with the substance.<sup>215</sup>

If a synthetic or nonsynthetic substance is used to control pests, the handler must update the handling operation's organic system plan to indicate that the substance was used and how the substance was applied.<sup>216</sup> The updated plan must also list all of the measures that were implemented to prevent contact with organic products and ingredients in the facility and the substance that was used.<sup>217</sup>

Notwithstanding any of these pest management practices, "a handler may otherwise use substances to prevent or control pests as required by Federal, State, or local laws and regulations." In such event, however, the handler must implement measures to prevent contact of organic products and ingredients with the substance used. 219

#### (iii). Prevention of Commingling and Contact With Prohibited Substances

The organic production and handling requirements also set forth specific standards for preventing the commingling and contact of organic between nonorganic products organic products with prohibited substances. This standard prohibits a handler from using "packaging materials, and storage containers, or bins that contain a synthetic fungicide, preservative, or fumigant." It also prohibits a handler from using or reusing

any bag or container that has been in contact with any substance in such a manner as to compromise the organic integrity of any organically produced product or ingredient placed in those containers, unless such reusable bag or container has been thoroughly cleaned and poses no risk of contact of the organically produced product or ingredient with the substance used.<sup>222</sup>

#### 5. Temporary Variances

Under certain circumstances, producers and handlers can obtain temporary variances from the (1) soil fertility and crop nutrient management standard; (2) seed and planting stock standard; (3) crop rotation standard; (4) crop, pest, weed, and disease management standard; (5) origin of livestock standard; (6) livestock feed standard; (7) livestock health care practice standard; (8) livestock living

See *id.* Presumably, this requirement applies irrespective of whether the synthetic or nonsynthetic substance is listed as prohibited or allowed in the National List.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> See id. at § 205.271(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> See id. at § 205.271(f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> See id. at § 205.272(a).

See id. at § 205.272(b)(1). The labels, labeling, and market information requirements are located at subpart D of the regulations and are located at §§ 205.300 - 205.311.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.272(b)(1).

conditions standard; (9) organic handling requirements; (10) facility pest management standard; and the (11) commingling and contact with prohibited substance prevention standard.<sup>223</sup> The Secretary may issue a temporary variance due to natural disasters, "[d]amage caused by drought, wind, flood, excessive moisture, hail, tornado, earthquake, fire, or other business interruption[,]" and for certain research purposes.<sup>224</sup>

If a temporary variance is established, the Secretary must provide written notification to certifying agents "applicable to the certifying agent's [sic] certified production or handling operations and specify the period it shall remain in effect, subject to extension . . . ."<sup>225</sup> Once a temporary variance has been established, the certifying agent is required to notify any operations that it certifies to which the variance is applicable.<sup>226</sup>

#### D. Labels, Labeling, and Market Information

Numerous NOP standards, requirements, and restrictions govern the labeling and use of marketing information for organically produced products. More specifically, there are (1) guidelines governing the use of the term "organic"; (2) specific labeling categories based on product composition; (3) requirements for what terms and references can be displayed in conjunction with each of the labeling categories; (4) methods for calculating the percentage of organic composition in a product; (5) labeling requirements for livestock feed; (6) standards for labeling nonretail containers used for shipping and storage of "organic" products; (7) standards for labeling products in other than packaged form sold, labeled, or represented as "organic" at the point of retail sale; (8) labeling requirements and restrictions for products produced on an exempted or excluded operation; and (9) standards governing the use of the USDA seal on organically produced products. The labels, labeling, and market information requirements are designed to prevent abuses in the marketing of organic products and to assure consumers that organic products and ingredients are labeled in a consistent, reliable, and predictable manner.

The prefatory comments state that the labels, labeling, and market information requirements must be implemented in such a way that they do not conflict with other federal labeling requirements.<sup>227</sup> The comments also state that the implementing regulations for the Federal Meat Inspection Act, Poultry Products Inspection Act, and the Egg Products Inspection Act must be followed when labeling meat, poultry, and egg products.<sup>228</sup> In addition, the comments state that the Food and Drug Administration's regulations governing the placement of information on food product

See id. at § 205.290(a). Temporary variances will not be granted for any practice, material, or procedure prohibited under § 205.105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.290(a)(1)-(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> *Id.* at § 205.290(c).

See id. at § 205.290(d). See also § 205.290(b) (stating that the governing state official or certifying agent for a State organic program may recommend that a temporary variance be established, but such recommendation must be based on at least one of the reasons listed in § 205.290(a)(1)-(3)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80, 576 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

See id. See also 9 C.F.R. pt. 317 (implementing regulations for the Federal Meat Inspection Act, Poultry Products Inspection Act, and Egg Products Inspection Act); 21 U.S.C. §§ 601-695 (Federal Meat Inspection Act); 21 U.S.C. §§ 451-470 (Poultry Products Inspection Act); and 21 U.S.C. §§ 1031-1056 (Egg Products Inspection Act).

packages, the Federal Trade Commission regulations implemented pursuant to the Fair Packaging and Labeling Act, and the Alcohol Tobacco and Firearms regulations implementing the Federal Alcohol Administration Act must also be followed, as applicable to the nature of the particular product.<sup>229</sup>

The final rule defines a "label" as a

display of written, printed, or graphic material on the immediate container of an agricultural product or any such material affixed to any agricultural product or affixed to a bulk container containing an agricultural product, except for package liners or a display of written, printed, or graphic material which contains only information about the weight of the product.<sup>230</sup>

"Labeling" is "[a]ll written, printed, or graphic material accompanying an agricultural product at any time or written, printed, or graphic material about the agricultural product displayed at retail stores about the product."<sup>231</sup>

#### 1. Use of the Term "Organic"

A person may only "sell or label an agricultural product as organically produced . . . if such product is produced and handled in accordance" with OFPA and the final rule.<sup>232</sup> In addition, "no person may affix a label to, or other [sic] provide market information concerning, an agricultural product if such label or information implies, directly or indirectly, that such product is produced and handled using organic methods, except in accordance" with the OFPA and the final rule.<sup>233</sup>

A product that is produced in the United States for export to a foreign country that is "produced and certified to foreign national organic standards or foreign contract buyer requirements, may be labeled in accordance with the organic labeling requirements of the receiving country or contract buyer." However, the shipping containers and documents must comply with the requirements for labeling nonretail containers that are used only for shipping or storage of "organic" products. A product that is produced in a foreign country and exported into the United States must be produced and handled in accordance with NOP certification requirements and must be labeled in accordance with the applicable labels, labeling, and market information requirements

<sup>65</sup> Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,576 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments). See also 16 C.F.R. pt. 500 (Federal Trade Commission implementing regulations under the Fair Packaging and Labeling Act); 27 C.F.R. pts, 4,5, and 7 (Alcohol Tobacco and Firearms regulations implementing the Federal Alcohol Administration Act).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> 7 U.S.C. § 6505(a)(1)(A). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.300(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> 7 U.S.C. § 6505(a)(1)(B).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.300(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> See id.

In the prefatory comments to the final rule, the AMS states that OFPA

provides the Secretary with the authority to review use of the term, "organic," in agricultural product names and the names of companies that produce agricultural products. While we believe that the term, "organic," in a brand name context does not inherently imply an organic production or handling claim and, thus, does not inherently constitute a false or misleading statement, we intend to monitor the use of the term in the context of the entire label. We will consult with the [Federal Trade Commission] and [the Food and Drug Administration] regarding product and company names that may misrepresent the nature of the product and take action on a case-by-case basis.<sup>236</sup>

#### 2. Labeling Categories and Calculation of Organic Composition

There are four labeling categories for organic products and products with organic ingredients: (1) products sold, labeled, or represented as "100 percent organic"; (2) products sold, labeled, or represented as "organic"; (3) products sold, labeled, or represented as "made with organic (specified ingredients or food group(s))"; and (4) products with less than seventy percent organically produced ingredients.<sup>237</sup> The labeling category that a particular product falls within is based entirely on the percentage of organic composition in that particular product.

There are three formulas used to calculate the percentage of organic composition in a product. One formula applies to products containing ingredients that are in solid form, another to products containing ingredients that are liquid in form, and another to products containing ingredients in both solid and liquid form. Water and salt are excluded as ingredients in all three formulas. The percentages that are calculated under each of these formulas must be rounded down to the nearest whole number. 239

For products containing ingredients that are in solid form only, the percentage of organic composition is determined by "[d]ividing the total net weight . . . of combined organic ingredients at formulation by the total weight . . . of the finished product." For products containing only liquid ingredients, organic composition is determined by "[d]ividing the fluid volume of all organic ingredients . . . by the fluid volume of the finished product . . . ."241 If a product containing only liquid ingredients is "identified on the principal display panel or information panel as being reconstituted from concentrates, the calculation should be made on the basis of single-strength concentrations of the ingredients and finished product." For products containing ingredients in both liquid and solid form,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,576, 80,547 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments). See also 7 U.S.C. § 6519(b) (authorizing the Secretary to review use of the term "organic").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.301.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> See id. at § 205.302.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> See id. at § 205.302(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> *Id.* at § 205.302(a)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> *Id.* at § 205.302(a)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> *Id.* 

organic composition is calculated by "dividing the combined weight of the solid ingredients and the weight of the liquid ingredients of the finished product."<sup>243</sup>

The handler who places the label on the product package is responsible for calculating the organic composition of the product.<sup>244</sup> The handler is permitted to use the information given by the certified operation in making this calculation. The calculation must be verified by the handler's certifying agent.<sup>245</sup>

#### 100% Organic

For a raw or processed product to be sold, labeled, or represented as "100 percent organic," it must contain 100 percent organically produced ingredients. Products in this labeling category may display "on the principal display panel, information panel, and any other panel of the package and on any labeling or market information" pertaining to the product (1) the term "100 percent organic" to modify the name of the product, and (2) the term "organic" to identify the organic ingredients contained in products containing two or more ingredients.<sup>247</sup>

The "principal display panel" is "[t]hat part of a label that is most likely to be displayed, presented, shown, or examined under customary conditions of display for sale." "Market information" is "[a]ny written, printed, audiovisual, or graphic information, including advertising, pamphlets, flyers, catalogues, posters, and signs, distributed, broadcast, or made available outside of retail outlets that are used to assist in the sale or promotion of a product." The "information panel" is

[t]hat part of the label of a packaged product that is immediately contiguous to and to the right of the principal display panel as observed by an individual facing the principal display panel, unless another section of the label is designated as the information panel because of package size or other package attributes (e.g. irregular shape with one usable surface).<sup>250</sup>

#### Organic

For a raw or processed product to be sold, labeled, or represented as "organic"— the second labeling category—it "must contain at least 95 percent organically produced raw or processed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> *Id.* at § 205.302(a)(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> See id. at § 205.302(c).

See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> See id. at § 205.301(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> *Id.* at § 205.303(a)(1), (3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> *Id.* 

agricultural products."<sup>251</sup> The remaining ingredients in the product must be organically produced, unless they are either commercially unavailable in organic form or are "nonagricultural substances or nonorganically produced agricultural products produced" in accordance with the National List requirements.<sup>252</sup> Products in this labeling category may display "on the principal display panel, information panel, and any other panel of the package and on any labeling or market information" relating to the product (1) the term "organic" to modify the name of the product, and (2) the percentage of organic ingredients contained in the product.<sup>253</sup>

In addition to the display requirements, products in these two labeling categories may also display "on the principal display panel, information panel, and any other panel of the package and on any labeling or market information" (1) the USDA organic seal;<sup>254</sup> and/or (2) "[t]he seal, logo, or other identifying mark of the certifying agent which certified the production or handling operation producing the finished product," as well as "any other certifying agent which certified production and handling operations producing raw organic product or organic ingredients used in the finished product." The identifying mark of the certifying agent(s) may only be displayed, however, if the handler that produced the final product maintains records in accordance with the applicable recordkeeping requirements and if the identifying mark is not displayed more prominently than the USDA seal.<sup>256</sup>

Products to be sold, labeled, or represented as either "100 percent organic" or "organic" must identify "each organic ingredient in the ingredient statement with the word 'organic,' or with an asterisk or other reference mark which is defined below the ingredient statement to indicate the ingredient is organically produced."<sup>257</sup> Products in these two labeling categories must also identify the certifying agent that certified the handler of the finished product, with the agent's name preceded by the statement, "Certified organic by . . .," or a similar statement. <sup>258</sup>

Products to be sold, labeled, or represented as "100 percent organic" or "organic" must be produced without the use of excluded methods or sewage sludge and must not be processed with the

 $<sup>^{251}</sup>$  *Id.* at § 205.301(b). See *supra* text accompanying note 60 (defining "nonagricultural substance").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.301(b).

See id. at § 205.303(a)(1), (2). The size of the percentage statement for products labeled as "organic" cannot exceed one-half the size of the largest type size on the panel on which the statement is displayed and must appear in its entirety in the same type size, style, and color without highlighting." 7 C.F.R. § 205.303(a)(2).

The standards governing the USDA seal are discussed below and are located in the regulations at 7 C.F.R. § 205.311.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.303(4)-(5). The phrase "seal, logo, or other identifying mark" is hereinafter shortened to "identifying mark."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> See id. at § 205.303(5).

 $<sup>^{257}</sup>$  *Id.* at § 205.303(b)(1). Water and salt cannot be identified in the ingredient statement as "organic."

See id. § 205.303(b)(2). Although not required, the certifying agent's business address, Internet address, or telephone number may be included on the label.

use of ionizing radiation.<sup>259</sup> In addition, these products and the ingredients contained in them that are identified as "organic" in the products' ingredient statements must be processed without the use of processing aids that are not listed as approved on the National List, except for products labeled as "100 percent organic" that, if processed, must be processed with the use of organically produced processing aids.<sup>260</sup> Finally, products in these two labeling categories and the ingredients in them that are identified as "organic" must not (1) "[c]ontain sulfites, nitrates, or nitrites added during the production or handling process";<sup>261</sup> (2) be produced with the use of "nonorganic ingredients when organic ingredients are available"; and (3) "[i]nclude organic and nonorganic forms of the same ingredient."<sup>262</sup>

#### "Made with Organic . . ."

Multiingredient products that are comprised of at least seventy percent but less than ninety-five percent organic ingredients fall with the third labeling category, "made with organic (specified ingredients or food group(s))." No more than three organically produced ingredients or food groups may be specified on the product label.<sup>264</sup>

The ingredients contained in "made with organic . . ." products must be produced and handled in accordance with the organic production and handling requirements.<sup>265</sup> The ingredients cannot be produced by using excluded methods or sewage sludge and cannot be processed with the use of ionizing radiation.<sup>266</sup> However, a "made with organic . . ." product may contain nonorganic agricultural ingredients that (1) were processed with the use of processing aids not approved on the National List; (2) contain "sulfites, nitrates, or nitrites added during the production or handling process";<sup>267</sup> (3) were produced using nonorganic ingredients when organic ingredients were available; and (4) can include both organic and nonorganic forms of the same ingredient.<sup>268</sup>

See id. at § 205.303(f)(1)-(3). See also id. at § 201.105(e)-(f). See supra text accompanying notes 61-76. This requirement also applies to the ingredients identified as "organic" in the products' ingredient statement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.303(f)(4).

This does not include wine that contains added sulfites, which may be labeled "made with organic grapes." See *id.* at § 205.303(f)(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.305(f)(4)-(7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> *Id.* at § 205.301(c). For purposes of this article, the phrase "made with organic (specified ingredients or food group(s))" is hereinafter shortened to "made with organic . . ." when appropriate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> See id. at § 205.304(a)(1)(i).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> *Id.* at § 205.303(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> See id. See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.105(d)-(f). See supra text accompanying notes 61-76.

This does not include wine that contains added sulfites, which may be labeled "made with organic grapes." 7 C.F.R. § 205.303(f)(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.303(c). See also id. at § 205.303(f)(4)-(7).

The package of a product labeled as "made with organic . . ." "may display on the principal display panel, information panel, and any other panel and on any labeling or market information concerning the product, the phrase "made with organic (specified ingredients)," as long as the package does not list more than three organically produced ingredients.<sup>269</sup> The package can be labeled with the phrase "made with organic (specified food groups)" as long as it does not list more than three of the following food groups: "beans, fish, fruits, grains, herbs, meats, nuts, oils, poultry, seeds, spices, sweeteners, and vegetables or processed milk products." The ingredients for each of the food groups listed on the package must be organically produced.<sup>271</sup>

For example, a vegetable soup made with eighty-five percent organically produced and handled potatoes, tomatoes, peppers, celery, and onions can be labeled as "soup made with organic potatoes, tomatoes, and peppers," or it can be labeled as "soup made with organic vegetables." If labeled as "soup made with organic vegetables," the soup cannot contain any nonorganic vegetables. 273

The listing of ingredients or foods groups in the product must appear in letters that are not larger than "one-half the size of the largest type size on the panel and which appears in its entirety in the same type size, style, and color without highlighting." The package may contain a statement identifying the percentage of organic ingredients in the product, as well as the identifying mark of the certifying agent that certified the handler of the finished product.

"Made with organic . . . " product packages must identify each organic ingredient, except for water and salt, listed in the ingredient statement with the word "organic," "or with an asterisk or other reference mark which is defined below the ingredient statement to indicate the ingredient is organically produced." "Made with organic . . ." product packages are also required to identify the name of the certifying agent that certified the handler of the finished product. The name of the certifying agent must be preceded by the phrase "Certified organic by . . .," or a similar phrase. The agent's name must be on the information panel of the product and below the information that identifies

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.304(a)(1)(i).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> *Id.* at § 205.304(a)(1)(ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,577 (prefatory comments for final rule with request for comments).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.304(a)(1)(iii).

See *id.* at § 205.304(b)(2)-(3). The size of the percentage statement cannot exceed "one-half of the largest type size on the panel on which the statement is displayed and must appear in its entirety in the same type size, style, and color without highlighting." 7 C.F.R. § 205.304(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.304(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> See id. at § 205.304(b)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> See id.

the handler or distributor of the product. $^{279}$  "Made with organic . . ." product packages are prohibited from displaying the USDA seal. $^{280}$ 

#### "Products with Less Than 70% Organically Produced Ingredients"

The organic ingredients contained in products falling within the fourth labeling category, "products with less than 70 percent organically produced ingredients," must have been produced and handled in accordance with the organic production and handling requirements.<sup>281</sup> Any nonorganic ingredients contained in the product may be produced without complying with any of the standards set forth in the final rule.<sup>282</sup> The packages of products in this labeling category are prohibited from displaying the USDA seal.<sup>283</sup> The packages are also prohibited from displaying any identifying mark of a certifying agent that represents that the product or its ingredients have been certified.<sup>284</sup>

The final rule prescribes only two methods in which the organic content of a product with less than seventy percent organic composition may be identified on the package. First, the package may identify "each organically produced ingredient in the ingredient statement with the word, 'organic,' or with an asterisk or other reference mark which is defined below the ingredient statement to indicate the ingredient is organically produced." Second, the package may identify organic content by "displaying the product's percentage of organic contents on the information panel," if the ingredients are identified in the ingredient statement. <sup>286</sup>

#### 3. Livestock Feed

There are only two labeling categories that can be used to indicate that livestock feed has been organically produced: "100 percent organic" and "organic." Raw or processed livestock feed intended to be sold, labeled, or represented as "100 percent organic" must be composed entirely of organically produced ingredients, excluding water and salt.<sup>287</sup> A raw or processed livestock feed to be sold, labeled, or represented as "100 percent organic" or "organic" must be produced in accordance with the organic production and handling requirements for livestock feed.<sup>288</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> See id. at § 205.301(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> See id. at § 205.305(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> See id. at § 205.305(b)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> See id. at § 205.305(a)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> See id. at § 205.305(a)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> See id. at § 205.301(e)(1).

See *id.* at § 205.305(e)(1)-(2). See *also id.* at § 205.237. The organic and production standards for livestock feed are discussed in Part C of this article.

"[t]he statement, '100 percent organic' or 'organic,' as applicable, to modify the name of the feed product." The package panel may also display the USDA seal and/or the identifying mark of the certifying agent that certified the production and handling operation producing the raw or processed organic ingredients used in the finished product" as long as the certifying agent's identifying mark is not displayed more prominently than the USDA seal. Finally, the package may identify ingredients that are organically produced with the word "organic" "or an asterisk or other reference mark which is defined on the package" to identify the organic ingredients.

Livestock feed products must display the name of the certifying agent that certified the handler of the finished product. The agent's name must be preceded by the phrase "Certified organic by . . ." or another similar phrase, and the package label may include the agent's telephone number, business address, or internet address. Livestock feed products must also be labeled, as applicable, with any other labeling requirements created under federal or state law. 294

### 4. Labeling of Nonretail Containers Used for Shipping and Storage

The labeling requirements discussed so far have related only to the display of written, printed, or graphic material placed on the container or package of an individual agricultural product as it appears for retail sale. Under NOP, there are also requirements for the labeling of nonretail containers used only for shipping or storage of raw or agricultural products labeled as "100 percent organic," "organic," or "made with organic . . . ."295 The requirements for labeling of nonretail containers are intended to prevent the commingling of organic and nonorganic products and ingredients and to prevent a product from being handled in a way that would destroy the product's organic status.

Nonretail containers used solely for shipping or storing agricultural products labeled as containing organic ingredients may display (1) the "name and contact information of the certifying agent which certified the handler which assembled the final product"; (2) handling instructions necessary to maintain the product's organic integrity; (3) terms or marks that identify the product as "organic"; (4) the USDA seal; and (5) the identifying mark "of the certifying agent that certified the organic production or handling operation that produced or handled the finished product." The containers are also required to display the "production lot number" of the product, if one is available. 297

35

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.306(a)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> *Id.* at § 205.306(a)(2)-(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> *Id.* at § 205.306(a)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> See id. at § 205.306(b)(i).

See *id.* The certifying agent's name must be placed on the information panel, below the information that identifies the handler or distributor of the product. See *id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> See id. at § 205.306(b)(ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> See id. at § 205.307.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> *Id.* at § 205.307(a)(1)-(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> See id. at § 205.307(b).

The "production lot number" is the "[i]dentification of a product based on the production sequence of the product showing the date, time, and place of production used for quality control purposes."<sup>298</sup>

Nonretail containers used to export domestically produced products labeled as organic to international markets can be labeled in accordance with the labeling requirements of the country of destination or with the specifications of the foreign contract buyer, if certain conditions are satisfied.<sup>299</sup> The containers and shipping documents must be clearly marked "For Export Only," and the handler must maintain verification of such marking and export "in accordance with the recordkeeping requirements for exempt and excluded operations under § 205.101."

This requirement states that there are recordkeeping requirements for exempted *and* excluded operations located at § 205.101 of the final rule. According to this provision of the final rule, the AMS indicates its belief that there are recordkeeping requirements for excluded operations set forth at § 205.101. However, as discussed in Part B of this article,<sup>301</sup> there are no recordkeeping requirements specifically applicable to excluded operations located at § 205.101.

# 5. Products in Other Than Packaged Form at Point of Sale

Products in other than packaged form at the point of retail sale that are to be sold, labeled, or represented as "100 percent organic" or "organic" "may use the term '100 percent organic' or 'organic,' as applicable, to modify the name of the product in retail display, labeling, and display containers," as long as the term "organic" "is used to identify the organic ingredients listed in the ingredient statement." This requirement applies to "100 percent organic" and "organic" products that are not packaged before sale and are presented in a way that permits consumers to the select the amount of the product they want to purchase.

Such products, if prepared in a certified facility, may have the USDA seal placed on the retail display, labeling, and display containers.<sup>303</sup> They may place the identifying mark "of the certifying agent which certified the . . . operation producing the finished product and any other certifying agent which certified operations producing raw organic product or organic ingredients used in the finished product" on the retail display, labeling, and display containers.<sup>304</sup> The identifying mark cannot be displayed more prominently than the USDA seal.<sup>305</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> See id. at § 205.307(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup> See id. The prefatory comments state that the records should include documents such as bills of lading and U.S. Customs Service documentation. 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,581 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup> See supra text accompanying notes 40-53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.308(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup> See id. at § 205.308(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup> *Id.* at § 205.308(b)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>305</sup> See id.

Products in other than packaged form at the point of retail sale that are to be sold, labeled, or represented as "made with organic . . ." are allowed to use the term "made with organic . . ." to modify the product name in retail display, labeling, and display containers. The "made with organic . . ." statement cannot list more than three organic ingredients or food groups. The ingredient statement must identify organic ingredients as "organic." As long as the product is prepared in a certified facility, it may display the certifying agent's identifying mark in retail displays, display containers, and market information. The ingredient is a solution of the product is prepared in a certified facility, it may display the certifying agent's identifying mark in retail displays, display containers, and market information.

### 6. Labeling of Products Produced on Exempted and Excluded Operations

Excluded or exempted operations must comply with the labeling requirements for exempted and excluded operations.<sup>310</sup> A product that has been produced on an exempted or excluded operation cannot be represented in any way to any buyer that it has been certified as an organically produced product or ingredient.<sup>311</sup> Thus, such products are prohibited from displaying the USDA seal and the identifying mark of a certifying agent that identifies the operation as certified.<sup>312</sup>

A product that has been organically produced or handled on an exempt or excluded operation may be identified as an "organic" product or ingredient in a multiingredient product that has been produced by that operation.<sup>313</sup> However, the product or ingredient can only be identified as "organic" if it complies with the applicable labels, labeling, and market information requirements.<sup>314</sup> The product or ingredient cannot be identified as "organic" if it has been processed by other persons or if it is used to modify a nonorganic ingredient in the product.<sup>315</sup>

A product that is produced or handled on an exempt or excluded operation cannot be produced by using excluded methods or sewage sludge.<sup>316</sup> It must also be processed without the use of ionizing radiation.<sup>317</sup> In addition, the product must be processed without the use of processing aids that are not listed as approved or allowed on the National List, except for products labeled as "100

<sup>313</sup> See id. at § 205.310(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>306</sup> See id. at § 205.309.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>307</sup> See id. at § 205.309(a)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>308</sup> See id. at § 205.309(a)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup> See id. at § 205.309(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>310</sup> See id. at § 205.310.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup> See id. at § 205.310(a)(1)-(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>312</sup> See *id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> See id. at § 205.310(c). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.300(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.310(c). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.300(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.310(c). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.301(f)(1)-(2). See supra text accompanying notes 61-76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.310(c). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.301(f)(3).

percent organic" which, if processed, must be processed with the use of organically produced processing aids.<sup>318</sup> Finally, products and ingredients produced or handled on an exempt or excluded operation must not (1) "[c]ontain sulfites, nitrates, or nitrites added during the production or handling process";<sup>319</sup> (2) be produced with the use of "nonorganic ingredients when organic ingredients are available"; and (3) "[i]nclude organic and nonorganic forms of the same ingredient."<sup>320</sup>

# 7. The Organic Seal

Only products to be sold, labeled, or represented as "100 percent organic" or "organic," including livestock feed, may contain the USDA Organic seal. The seal indicates to consumers that a product has been certified as organically produced and handled in accordance with all applicable NOP requirements. The USDA seal must "replicate the form and design" of the examples provided by the USDA.

#### E. Certification

"Certification" is a certifying agent's determination that an operation has complied with all applicable NOP requirements, which is documented by a certificate of organic operation. A "certifying agent" is "[a]ny entity accredited by the Secretary for the purpose of certifying a production or handling operation as a certified production or handling operation.

The final rule establishes general requirements for certification, standards for submitting an application for certification, standards for reviewing the application, and requirements governing the on-site inspections that must be conducted by a certifying agent. It also sets forth standards for the granting, denying, and continuing certification.

### 1. General Certification Requirements

There are six general requirements for certification.<sup>325</sup> First, any person seeking certification must comply with the OFPA and all applicable organic production and handling standards.<sup>326</sup> Second, the producer or handler must also create, implement, and annually update an organic system

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>318</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.310(c). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.301(f)(4).

This does not include wine that contains added sulfites, which may be labeled "made with organic grapes." See 7 C.F.R. § 205.303(f)(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.310(c). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.301(f)(5)-(7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.311(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup> *Id.* at § 205.311(b). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.311(b)(1)(2) & ©). Examples of the USDA seal can be viewed at http://www.ams.usda.gov/nop/Consumers/Seal.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>323</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup> See id. at § 205.2. See also 7 U.S.C. § 6501(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.400.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup> *Id.* at § 205.400(a).

plan.<sup>327</sup> Third, the producer or handler applying for certification must allow the certifying agent to conduct on-site inspections "with complete access to the production or handling operation, including noncertified production and handling areas, structures, and offices."<sup>328</sup> Fourth, the applicant must also maintain all records pertaining to the organic operation for at least five years beyond the creation of the records and allow "authorized representatives of the Secretary, the applicable state organic program's governing State official, and the certifying agent access" to those records during normal business hours.<sup>329</sup> Fifth, the person seeking certification must tender the applicable payments charged by the certifying agent.<sup>330</sup> Sixth, the person must notify the certifying agent when there is an application of a prohibited substance to any part of the operation or when there is a change in the operation that could affect the operation's compliance with NOP.<sup>331</sup>

### 2. Application for Certification

A producer or handler of a production or handling operation seeking certification must submit an application for certification to a certifying agent. The application must include an organic system plan, the name of the person completing the application, and the applicant's business name, address, and telephone number. If the applicant is a corporate entity, the name, address, and telephone number of the person authorized to act on the entity's behalf must be provided. He application must submit an application must include an organic system plan, the name, address, and telephone number of the person authorized to act on the entity's behalf must be provided.

The application must also include "[t]he name(s) of any organic certifying agent(s) to which application has previously been made; the year(s) of application; [and] the outcome of the application(s) submission." If an applicant has previously received either a notice of noncompliance or denial of certification from a certifying agent, a copy of the notice must be included, when available, with the application. In the event that an applicant has received a notice of noncompliance or denial of certification, the application should include "a description of the actions taken by the applicant to correct the noncompliances" indicated in the notice, "including evidence of such correction." Finally, the application must contain any additional information needed to demonstrate compliance with all applicable NOP requirements.

<sup>338</sup> See id. at § 205.401(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> See id. at § 205.400(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup> *Id.* at § 205.400(c).

<sup>329</sup> See id. at § 205.400(c)-(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>330</sup> See id. at § 205.400(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup> See id. at § 205.400(f)(1)-(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>332</sup> See id. at § 205.401.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>333</sup> See id. at § 205.401(a)-(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>334</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>335</sup> *Id.* at § 205.401(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup> See id.

<sup>337 1</sup> 

# 3. Review of Application

Once an application for certification is submitted, the certifying agent must review the application and determine whether it should be granted, denied, or continued. The final rule sets forth several requirements that certifying agents must follow when making this determination.<sup>339</sup>

The certifying agent must examine the application to determine whether the applicable requirements for submitting an application for certification have been met.<sup>340</sup> Next, the agent must determine whether the applicant "appears to comply or may be able to comply" with the applicable organic production and handling requirements.<sup>341</sup> If the agent determines that the applicant may have satisfied the applicable production and handling requirements, then it must schedule an on-site inspection to determine whether the production and handling requirements have been satisfied.<sup>342</sup> If the applicant has previously received a notice of noncompliance or denial of certification from another certifying agent, the agent must verify that the applicant has submitted documentation demonstrating that the applicant has corrected the noncompliance(s) indicated in the notice.<sup>343</sup>

The certifying agent is required to review the application and inform the applicants of its findings within a reasonable time.<sup>344</sup> It must provide to the applicant a copy of the inspection report developed from an on-site inspection to the applicant<sup>345</sup> and a copy of any test results for samples taken by an inspector to detect the presence of a prohibited substance on the operation.<sup>346</sup>

An applicant is allowed to withdraw its application at any time but must pay costs of services provided up to the time of withdrawal.<sup>347</sup> A notice of noncompliance or denial of certification will not be issued to an applicant if the applicant voluntarily withdrew its application before such notice was issued.<sup>348</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup> See id. at § 205.402.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>340</sup> See *id.* at § 205.402(a)(1). See *supra* text accompanying notes 336-42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.402(a)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>342</sup> See id. at § 205.402(a)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>343</sup> See id. at § 205.402(a)(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>344</sup> See id. at § 205.402(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>345</sup> See id. at § 205.402(b)(2).

See *id.* at § 205.402(b)(3). See *also* 7 C.F.R. § 205.2 (defining an "inspector" is "[a]ny person retained or used by a certifying agent to conduct inspections of certification applicants or certified production and handling operations"). See *also* 7 C.F.R. § 205.670 (establishing requirements for inspection and testing of agricultural products to be sold or labeled as "organic").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>347</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.402(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup> See id.

# 4. On-site Inspections

Certifying agents are required to "conduct an initial on-site inspection of each production unit, facility, and site that produces or handles organic products and that is included in an operation for which certification is requested."<sup>349</sup> Following the initial on-site inspection, annual inspections must be conducted for certified operations to determine whether a request for certification should be approved or whether certification for the operation should continue.<sup>350</sup>

In addition to the initial and subsequent annual inspections, certifying agents may conduct additional inspections to determine whether an applicant or an already certified operation is in compliance with NOP requirements. The AMS Administrator, the representative delegated responsibility to act on behalf of the Administrator, or the governing official of a State organic program may require a certifying agent to conduct additional inspections "for the purpose of determining compliance" with the OFPA and the final rule. At the discretion of the Administrator, its representative, or the governing official of a state organic program, additional inspections may be announced or unannounced.

The initial inspection must be conducted within a reasonable time after the certifying agent has determined that the applicant "appears or may be able to comply" with the organic production and handling requirements.<sup>354</sup> An initial inspection can be delayed for up to six months, however, "to comply with the requirement that the inspection be conducted when the land, facilities, and activities that demonstrate compliance or capacity to comply can be observed."<sup>355</sup>

All inspections, whether initial, annual, or additional must occur when an authorized representative of the operation is present and "at a time when land, facilities, and activities that demonstrate the operation's compliance with or capability to comply" with the applicable organic production and handling requirements can be observed. This requirement does not apply to unannounced inspections.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup> See id. at § 205.403(a)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>350</sup> See id.

See id. at § 205.403(a)(2)(i). See also 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,590 (prefatory comments to the final rule with request for comments) (stating that a certifying agent's misuse of its authority to conduct additional inspections "would be subject to review by USDA during its evaluation of a certifying agent for reaccreditation and at other times in response to complaints" and that "[c]ertified production and handling operations can file complaints with USDA at any time should they believe a certifying agent abuses its authority to perform additional inspections").

<sup>352</sup> *Id.* at § 205.403(a)(2)(ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>353</sup> See id. at § 205.403(a)(2)(iii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>354</sup> *Id.* at § 205.403(a)(2)(iii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>355</sup> *Id.* at § 205.403(b)(1). *See also* 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,592 (prefatory comments to the final rule with request for comments) (stating that "[a]pplicants who believe that the certifying agent is abusing its authority to delay the on-site inspection may file a complaint with the Administrator").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>356</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.403(b)(2).

An inspection must verify an "operation's compliance or capability to comply" with OFPA and the final rule and confirm that the information provided in the application including the organic system plan, "accurately reflects the practices used or to be used by the applicant for certification or by the certified operation." On-site inspections must also verify that no prohibited substances have been applied or are currently being applied to the production or handling operation. Such verification may, at the discretion of the certifying agent, include "the collection and testing of soil; water; waste; seeds; plant tissue; and plant, animal, and processed products samples." If samples are taken, the inspector must provide the operation's authorized representative with a receipt if samples are taken.

An exit interview must be conducted "with an authorized representative of the operation who is knowledgeable about the inspected operation" to verify that observations and information gathered during the inspection are accurate and complete. During the interview, the inspector must inform the authorized representative if additional information is needed and if there are any issues of concern. The prefatory comments to the final rule state that the main purpose of the exit interview is to present the inspection observations to those in charge of the firm in such a manner so as to ensure they clearly understand the results of the inspection."

### 5. Granting Certification

Once the initial inspection has been conducted, the certifying agent must review the initial inspection report, the results from any tests conducted to detect the presence of prohibited substances, any information supplied by or requested from the applicant, the organic system plan, and all procedures and activities used in the applicant's operation.<sup>364</sup> Based upon this review, the certifying agent must grant certification if it determines that the applicant's operation complies with the applicable NOP requirements and that the operation will be able to conduct its operation in accordance with its organic system plan.<sup>365</sup> The certifying agent may require the operation to correct minor noncompliances "within a specified time period as a condition of continued certification."<sup>366</sup>

42

<sup>357</sup> Id. at § 205.403(c)(1)-(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>358</sup> See id. at § 205.403(c)(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>359</sup> Id

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>360</sup> See id. at § 205.403(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>361</sup> *Id.* at § 205.403(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> 65 Fed. Reg. 80,547, 80,589 (prefatory comments to final rule with request for comments).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>364</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.404(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>365</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>366</sup> *Id*.

If certification is granted, the certifying agent must issue a certificate of organic operation to the certified operation.<sup>367</sup> The certificate must specify (1) the name and address of the certified operation; (2) the effective date of certification; (3) the name, address, and telephone number of the certifying agent, and (4) the "[c]ategories of organic operation, including crops, wild crops, livestock, or processed products produced by the certified operation."<sup>368</sup> An operation's certification is effective until it is surrendered by the operation, or suspended or revoked by either the certifying agent, the governing official for a State's organic program, or the Administrator.<sup>369</sup>

#### 6. Denial of Certification

If a certifying agent has reason to believe that an applicant "is not able to comply or is not in compliance with the requirements" set forth in the final rule, it must provide a written notice of noncompliance to the applicant.<sup>370</sup> When an operation's noncompliance is such that it would be impossible to correct, the certifying agent may combine a written notification of noncompliance and denial in one notice.<sup>371</sup>

A notice of noncompliance must describe each noncompliance, the factual basis for the noncompliance, and the "date by which the applicant must rebut or correct each noncompliance and submit supporting documentation of each such correction when correction is possible." If a certifying agent determines that an applicant has willfully provided a false statement or purposefully misrepresented its operation or compliance, the agent may issue a denial of certification without first issuing a notice of noncompliance. 373

An applicant that has received a notice of noncompliance may exercise one of three options. First, it may correct the noncompliances and explain to the certifying agent in supporting documentation the corrective actions that it implemented.<sup>374</sup> Second, the applicant may also correct the noncompliance(s) and submit a new application for certification to another certifying agent.<sup>375</sup> If an applicant exercises this second option, it must submit a complete application for certification to the new certifying agent that includes a copy of "the notification of noncompliance received from the first certifying agent," a description of the corrective measures that it implemented to remedy the noncompliance, and documentation that evidences the corrective measures that were taken.<sup>376</sup>

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>367</sup> See id. at § 205.404(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>368</sup> *Id.* at § 205.404(b)(1)-(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>369</sup> See id. at § 205.404(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>370</sup> *Id.* at § 205.405(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>371</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>372</sup> *Id.* at § 205.405(a)(1)-(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>373</sup> See id. at § 205.405(g).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>374</sup> See id. at § 205.405(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>375</sup> See id. at § 205.405(b)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>376</sup> *Id*.

Finally, the applicant may challenge the certifying agent's determination with written information that rebuts the noncompliance(s) described in the notice of noncompliance.<sup>377</sup>

After issuing a notice of noncompliance, the certifying agent must examine the corrective measures taken by an applicant, the documentation evidencing those corrective actions, or the applicant's written rebuttal.<sup>378</sup> If necessary, the certifying agent must also conduct an on-site inspection.<sup>379</sup> The certifying agent must issue an approval of certification to the applicant if it determines that either the corrective measures implemented by the applicant or the applicant's rebuttal are sufficient to qualify the applicant for certification.<sup>380</sup> The certifying agent must provide a written notice of denial of certification to the applicant if it determines that the corrective measures or the rebuttal are not sufficient to qualify the applicant for certification.<sup>381</sup> A certifying agent must also send a written notice of a denial of certification if the applicant fails to respond to a notice of noncompliance.<sup>382</sup> Notice of either approval or denial must also be sent by the certifying agent to the Administrator.<sup>383</sup>

Any notice of denial must state the reason(s) for the denial.<sup>384</sup> It must also state that the applicant has a right to reapply for certification, to request mediation, or file an appeal challenging the denial of certification.<sup>385</sup> When a certifying agent receives a new application for certification that includes a notice of noncompliance or notice of denial, it must review the application as if it were a new application and begin an entirely new application process.<sup>386</sup>

#### 7. Continuation of Certification

To maintain its certification status, a certified operation must annually update its organic system plan, submit the updated information to its certifying agent, and pay the necessary fees.<sup>387</sup> The updated organic system plan must contain a summary statement and supporting documentation describing any changes or modifications to the previous year's organic system plan.<sup>388</sup> The updated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>377</sup> See id. at § 205.405(b)(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>378</sup> See id. at § 205.405(c)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>379</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>380</sup> See id. at § 205.405(c)(1)(i).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>381</sup> See id. at § 205.405(c)(1)(ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>382</sup> See id. at § 205.405(c)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>383</sup> See id. at § 205.4059(c)(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>384</sup> See id. at § 205.405(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>385</sup> See id. at § 205.405(d)(1)-(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>386</sup> See id. at § 205.405(f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>387</sup> See id. at § 205.406(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>388</sup> See id. at § 205.406(a)(1)(i).

plan must also describe any deletions or additions to the previous year's organic system plan that are expected to be implemented in the upcoming year.<sup>389</sup>

Any changes in the applicant's business name, address, telephone number, or the name, address, or telephone number of its authorized representative must also be provided to the certifying agent as part of the annual update.<sup>390</sup> If the certifying agent notified the operation that minor noncompliances would need to be corrected when it granted certification, the operation must provide an update on the corrective measures it implemented.<sup>391</sup> Finally, the operation must provide any information requested by the certifying agent to demonstrate compliance with NOP requirements.<sup>392</sup>

Once the certifying agent has received the required updated information, it must arrange for and conduct an on-site inspection of the operation.<sup>393</sup> When such an inspection is not possible, however, the certifying agent "may allow continuation of certification and issue an updated certificate of organic operation on the basis of the information submitted and the most recent on-site inspection conducted during the previous 12 months."<sup>394</sup> If an operation's certification is continued in this manner, the required annual on-site inspection must be conducted in the first six months after the operation's scheduled date of annual update.<sup>395</sup>

The certifying agent must issue a written notice of noncompliance to an operation if the on-site inspection and review of an operation's updated information causes the certifying agent to determine that the operation is not in compliance with NOP requirements.<sup>396</sup> On the other hand, if the inspection and review of information demonstrates an operation's compliance with NOP requirements, the certifying agent must issue an updated certificate of organic operation.<sup>397</sup>

### F. Accreditation of Certifying Agents

"Accreditation" is a "determination by the Secretary that authorizes a private, foreign, or State entity to conduct certification activities as a certifying agent" in accordance with NOP requirements.<sup>398</sup>

<sup>395</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>389</sup> See id. at § 205.406(a)(1)(ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>390</sup> See id. at § 205.406(a)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>391</sup> See id. at § 205.406(a)(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>392</sup> See id. at § 205.406(a)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>393</sup> See id. at § 205.406(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>394</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>396</sup> See id. at § 205.406(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>397</sup> See id. at § 205.406(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>398</sup> *Id.* at § 205.2.

An entity must comply with several requirements in order to receive accreditation to operate as a certifying agent.<sup>399</sup>

An entity can be granted accreditation by the Administrator in the areas of crops, livestock, wild crops, or handling, or any combination of these areas. For example, an accredited certifying agent may be accredited to conduct certification activities with respect to crop production and wild crops but not for livestock production. Accreditation is effective for five years from the date in which the Secretary grants an application for accreditation.

A foreign entity's accreditation can be accepted by the Secretary if the Secretary determines that the standards under which the foreign entity's accreditation was granted satisfies the NOP accreditation requirements, or if the foreign government that granted accreditation to the agent acted under an equivalency agreement negotiated between it and the United States. 402

The final rule sets forth numerous general requirements that an entity must satisfy to become accredited or, in some instances, maintain its accreditation. For example, an entity must have the expertise, ability, and a sufficient number of personnel to allow it to fully comply with all applicable NOP requirements, in particular the requirements for certification and accreditation. It must demonstrate that its "responsibly connected persons, employees, and contractors with inspection, analysis, and decision-making responsibilities have sufficient expertise" with respect to production and handling practices to allow them to successfully perform their respective duties. The entity must conduct an annual evaluation of all members of its personnel involved in making certification determinations so that any deficiencies in the entity's certification services can be corrected. It must also have an annual review of its certification activities performed by its staff, an outside auditor, or a consultant with sufficient expertise to conduct the reviews and must implement measures to correct any deficiencies revealed in the evaluation.

The entity must provide to persons interested in being certified information that is sufficient to allow that person to comply with all applicable NOP requirements, and it must maintain records in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>399</sup> See *id.* at §§ 205.500-.510. The requirements for accreditation of certifying agents are summarized below and are not discussed in detail in this article.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>400</sup> See id. at § 205.500(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>401</sup> See id. at § 205.500(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>402</sup> See id. at 205.500(c)(1)-(2).

This article does not describe all of the general requirements for accreditation. For a full listing of these requirements consult 7 C.F.R. § 205.501.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>404</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.501(a)(1)-(4).

<sup>405</sup> See id. at § 205.500(a)(5). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.2 (defining "responsibly connected").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>406</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.501(a)(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>407</sup> See id. at § 205.501(a)(7).

accordance with the recordkeeping requirements for certifying agents. <sup>408</sup> In addition, the entity must maintain strict confidentiality with respect to its clients and must refrain from disclosing to third parties any business-related information that it collected while carrying out its duties under the NOP. <sup>409</sup> It must also prevent conflicts of interest in accordance with the measures set forth in the final rule. <sup>410</sup>

An entity seeking accreditation as a certifying agent must submit, along with the applicable fees, an application to the Secretary, that contains (1) the required applicant information; (2) evidence of expertise and ability; (3) and a statement of agreement.<sup>411</sup> The Administrator must review this information and, if necessary, information derived from an on-site inspection to determine whether the entity has satisfied the general requirements for accreditation.<sup>412</sup>

If based on this review the Administrator concludes that the entity has satisfied the general requirements for accreditation, it must provide written notification to the applicant that accreditation has been granted. This notice must state what area(s)—crop production, handling, wild crops, or livestock—for which the entity is being accredited, the effective date of accreditation, and, if applicable, the terms and conditions for the correction of minor noncompliances. The real restriction agent that is a private entity, the notice must state what "the amount and type of security that must be established to protect the rights of production and handling operations certified by such certifying agent."

If the Administrator<sup>416</sup> reviews this information and determines that an entity is not able to comply or is not in compliance with all applicable NOP accreditation requirements, it must provide a written notification of noncompliance to the applicant.<sup>417</sup> This notice must describe the noncompliance(s), the factual basis for the noncompliance(s), the date by which the noncompliance

See *id.* at § 205.501(a)(8)-(9). See *also* 7 C.F.R. § 205.510(b) (describing the recordkeeping requirements for certifying agents).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>409</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.501(a)(10).

See *id.* at § 205.501(a)(11). See *also* 7 C.F.R. § 205.501(a)(11)(i)-(vi) (describing the methods in which the entity must prevent conflicts of interest). See *also* 7 C.F.R. § 205.501(12)(i)-(ii) (describing process for reconsidering an operation's application for certification when it is determined that a conflict of interest existed within a year of granting certification).

See id. at § 205.502(a). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.640-.642 (describing fees and other charges for accreditation).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>412</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.502(b).

<sup>413</sup> See id. at § 205.506(b).

<sup>414</sup> See id. at § 205.506(b)(1)-(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>415</sup> *Id.* at § 205.506(b)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>416</sup> In the requirements for granting accreditation, § 205.506, the final rule states that the decision to grant accreditation is left to the Administrator. In the requirements for denying accreditation, § 205.507, the final rule states that decision to deny accreditation is left to the "Program Manager." The term "Administrator" is used here for consistency and because "Program Manager" is not defined in either the OFPA or the final rule.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>417</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.507(a).

must be rebutted or corrected, and the date by which supporting documentation of the correction must be submitted. The Administrator must send a written notice of noncompliance resolution and continue processing the application for accreditation when the noncompliance(s) have been resolved. Here

The Administrator must provide a notice of accreditation denial if the applicant does not correct the noncompliance(s), report the corrections by the date specified in the notice of noncompliance, rebut the notification of noncompliance by the date specified in the notice, or succeed in its rebuttal of the notice of noncompliance. If an applicant receives a notice of accreditation denial, it may submit another application at any time or appeal the denial by the date specified in the notice of accreditation denial.

The Administrator must commence proceedings to suspend or revoke an already accredited certifying agent's accreditation if the agent fails to correct its noncompliances, "fails to report the corrections by the date specified in the notification of noncompliance, or fails to file a rebuttal of the notification on noncompliance by the date specified." If a certifying agent's accreditation is suspended, it may submit a request to the Secretary at any time to have its accreditation reinstated, unless the notice of suspension states otherwise. A certifying agent whose accreditation is revoked cannot be eligible for accreditation for at least three years following the revocation.

Once an entity has been granted accreditation, site evaluations must be conducted by either the Administrator or the Administrator's representative(s), for the purpose of examining the certifying agent's operations and evaluating its compliance with NOP requirements. Site evaluations must include an on-site review of the certifying agent's certification procedures, decisions, facilities, administrative and management systems, and production and handling operations certified by the certifying agent. Accredited certifying agents must provide an annual report to the Administrator, on or before the dat

e of the issuance of the notification of accreditation" along with the required accreditation fees. 427

<sup>425</sup> See id. at § 205.508(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>418</sup> See id. at § 205.507(a)(1)-(3).

<sup>419</sup> See id. at § 205.507(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>420</sup> See id. at § 205.507(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>421</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>422</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>423</sup> See id. at § 205.507(d).

<sup>424</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>426</sup> Id. See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.508(b) (describing when on site evaluations must be conducted).

See 7 C.F.R. § 205.510(a). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.510(a)(1)-(4) (describing the information that the certifying agent is required to submit in its annual report).

### G. National List

The use of synthetic substances in the production and handling of organically produced agricultural products is prohibited, unless the substance is listed as an allowed substance on the National List. The National List also includes nonsynthetic substances prohibited in the production and handling of organically produced agricultural products. A "nonsynthetic substance," also referred to as a "natural substance," is a substance that "is derived from mineral, plant, or animal matter and does not undergo a synthetic process."

The National List contains "an itemization, by specific use or application, of each synthetic substance permitted . . . or each natural substance prohibited" under the NOP. 431 More specifically, it lists the (1) synthetic substances allowed for use in organic crop production; (2) nonsynthetic substances prohibited for use in organic livestock production; (4) nonsynthetic substances prohibited for use in organic livestock production; (5) nonagricultural substances allowed as ingredients in or on processed products labeled as "organic" or "made with organic . . . ."; and (6) nonorganically produced agricultural products allowed as ingredients in or on processed products labeled as "organic" or "made with organic . . . ."

The National List is based upon recommendations submitted to the Secretary by the National Organic Standards Board ("NOSB"). The NOSB is the entity established by OFPA to assist the Secretary in all aspects of NOP, including developing and amending the National List.<sup>433</sup> The NOSB is comprised of fifteen members who serve five-year staggered terms.<sup>434</sup> These fifteen members must include four individuals who own or operate an organic farming operation, two individuals that own or operate an organic handling operation, one individual who owns or operates a retail establishment having significant trade in organic products, and three individuals possessing an expertise in environmental protection and resource conservation.<sup>435</sup> The NOSB also includes an individual with expertise in toxicology, ecology, or biochemistry, and one individual who is a certifying agent.<sup>436</sup>

The creation of the National List was a two-part process in which the NOSB developed and submitted recommendations to the Secretary and the Secretary used those recommendations to

See 7 U.S.C. §§ 6504, 6510, 6517, & 6518. A "synthetic" is "a substance that is formulated or manufactured by a chemical process or by a process that chemically changes a substance extracted from naturally occurring plant, animal, or mineral sources," but does not include substances created by a naturally occurring biological process." 7 U.S.C. § 6502(21).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>429</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>430</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.2.

 $<sup>^{431}\,</sup>$  7 U.S.C. § 6502(12). This itemized listing is found at 7 C.F.R. §§ 205.601-.606 and is not reprinted in this article.

See supra text accompanying note 60 (defining "nonagricultural substance"). See supra text accompanying note 59 (defining "nonagricultural substance").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>433</sup> See 7 U.S.C. § 6518.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>434</sup> See id. at § 6518(b),(d).

<sup>435</sup> See id. at § 6518(b)(1)-(4).

<sup>436</sup> See id. at § 6518(b)(6).

make a final determination about the content of the National List. Amendments to the National List follow this same two-part developmental process. The Secretary is not required to adopt recommendations submitted to it by NOSB.

### 1. National List Requirements Under OFPA

In developing its recommendations, NOSB must "convene technical advisory panels to provide scientific evaluation of the materials considered for including in the National List," and it must review information available from the EPA, the National Institute of Environmental Health Studies, and any other appropriate information sources "concerning the potential for adverse human and environmental effects of substances considered for inclusion in the proposed National List." NOSB must also consult with the manufacturers of substances to determine whether those substances contain inert materials that are synthetically produced. The results of these evaluations must be submitted to the Secretary along with NOSB's proposal.

NOSB is required to consider the potential for detrimental chemical interactions between the considered substance and other substances commonly used in organic production, "the toxicity and mode of action of the substance and of its breakdown products or contaminants, and their persistence and areas of concentration in the environment," and the likelihood of environmental contamination "during manufacture, use, misuse or disposal of . . . [the] substance." NOSB must also consider the effects that the substance has on "biological and chemical interactions in the agroecosystem, including the physiological effects of the substance on soil organisms . . ., crops and livestock;" and on human health. Finally, the NOSB must consider alternatives to using the substance and the substance's compatibility with a system of sustainable agriculture.

The Secretary may list a prohibited substance as allowed only if it determines, in consultation with the Secretary of Health and Human Services and the EPA Administrator, that use of the substance "would not be harmful to human health or the environment . . ., is necessary to the production and handling of the agricultural product because of unavailability of wholly natural substitute products . . ., and is consistent with organic farming and handling."

For an otherwise prohibited substance to be listed as allowed on the National List, it must also satisfy one of three requirements. First, the substance must be only used in production and contain an active synthetic ingredient that falls within one of the following categories: "copper and sulfur compounds; toxins derived from bacteria; pheromones, soaps, horticultural oils, fish emulsions, treated seed, vitamins and minerals; livestock parasiticides and medicines and production aids including netting, tree wraps and seals, insect traps, sticky barriers, row covers, and equipment

50

<sup>437</sup> *Id.* at § 6518(k)(3),(l)(1).

<sup>438</sup> See id. at § 6518(I)(2).

<sup>439</sup> See id. at § 6518(I)(3).

<sup>440</sup> *Id.* at § 6518(m)(1)-(3).

<sup>441</sup> Id. at § 6518(m)(4)-(5).

<sup>442</sup> See id. at § 6518(m)(6)-(7).

<sup>443</sup> *Id.* at § 6517(c)(1)(A)(i)-(iii).

cleansers."<sup>444</sup> Second, the substance must be only used in production and contain "synthetic inert ingredients that are not classified by the Administrator of the [EPA] as inerts of toxicological concern."<sup>445</sup> Finally, the substance must be used in handling and be nonsynthetic, but not organically produced.<sup>446</sup>

The Secretary may prohibit the use of a specific natural substance only if it determines, in consultation with the Secretary of Health and Human Services and the EPA Administrator, that use of the substance "would be harmful to human health or the environment" and inconsistent with organic farming and handling and the purposes of the OFPA. 447

The Secretary is prohibited from including "exemptions for the use of specific synthetic substances in the National List other than those exemptions contained" in the NOSB's proposal. 448 Under no circumstances can a substance whose presence in food is prohibited by any federal regulatory action be included on the National List. 449

The Secretary is required to publish in the Federal Register any proposal it receives from NOSB and any changes it recommends to the NOSB's proposal. All exemptions and prohibitions contained in the National List are valid only if NOSB reviews them within five years of being adopted or reviewed and the Secretary renews the exemption or prohibition.

# 2. National List Requirements Under the Final Rule

The final rule incorporates the OFPA requirements for determining whether a substance should be listed as allowed or prohibited on the National List. It also sets forth several requirements— which are authorized by, but not included in the OFPA— for determining whether a synthetic substance that is used as a processing aid or adjuvant should be listed as allowed or prohibited on the National List. The final rule defines the term "processing aid" as the following:

(a) [A] substance that is added to a food during the processing of such food but is removed in some manner from the food before it is packaged in its finished form; (b) a substance that is added to a food during processing, is converted into constituents normally present in the food, and does not significantly increase the amount of the

449 See id. at § 6517(d)(3).

<sup>444</sup> Id. at § 6517(c)(1)(B)(i).

<sup>445</sup> *Id.* at § 6517(c)(1)(B)(ii).

<sup>446</sup> See id. at § 6517(c)(1)(B)(iii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>447</sup> *Id.* at § 6517(c)(2)(A)(i)-(ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>448</sup> *Id.* at § 6517(d)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>450</sup> See id. at § 6517(d)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>451</sup> See id. at § 6517(d)(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>452</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.600(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>453</sup> See id. at § 205.600(b) & (c).

constituents naturally found in the food; and (c)a substance that is added to a food for its technical or functional effect in the processing but is present in the finished food at insignificant levels and does not have any technical or functional effect in that food.<sup>454</sup>

There are six criteria for making this determination. First, the processing aid or adjuvant must not be a substance that was produced from a natural source and must not have any organic substitutes. Second, the manufacture, use, and disposal of the substance must not have adverse effects on the environment and must be conducted in a manner compatible with organic handling. Third, the nutritional quality of the food must be maintained "when the substance is used, and the substance, itself, or its breakdown products do not have an adverse effect on human health as defined by applicable Federal Regulations." Fourth, the primary use of the substance cannot be as a preservative "or to recreate or improve flavors, colors, textures, or nutritive value lost during processing," unless the replacement of nutrients is required by law. Fifth, the substance must be listed as "generally recognized as safe" by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) when used in accordance the FDA's good manufacturing practices and must not contain any "residues of heavy materials or other contaminants in excess of tolerance" established by the FDA. Finally, the substance must be "essential for the handling of organically produced agricultural products."

# 3. Amending the National List

Any person may petition NOSB to evaluate a substance for recommendation to the Secretary that the substance be listed as allowed or prohibited on the National List.<sup>461</sup> A copy of the petition procedures can be obtained from the USDA by sending the request for petition procedures to the following address:

Program Manager, USDA/AMS/TMP/NOP Room 2945,South Building P.O. Box 96456 Washington, D.C. 20090-6456.<sup>462</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>454</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>455</sup> See id. at § 205.600(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>456</sup> See id. at § 205.600(b)(2).

<sup>457</sup> *Id.* at § 205.600(b)(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>458</sup> See id. at § 205.600(b)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>459</sup> See id. at § 205.600(b)(5).

<sup>460</sup> *Id.* at § 205.600(b)(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>461</sup> See id. at § 205.607(a)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>462</sup> See id. at § 205.607(b)-(c).

### H. State Organic Programs

Any state is allowed, subject to certain conditions, to create a state organic program ("SOP") for production and handling operations within that state. 463 The SOP must comply with all NOP requirements, although it may contain additional requirements that are more restrictive than NOP requirements "because of environmental conditions or the necessity of specific production or handling practices particular to the State or region of the United States." The additional requirements must further the purposes of NOP, must not be inconsistent with NOP, and must not be "discriminatory towards agricultural commodities organically produced in other States" that are produced in accordance with NOP. 465 A SOP and any amendments to it must be approved by the Secretary before being implemented by the state.

The SOP submitted for the Secretary's approval "must contain supporting materials that include statutory authorities, program description, documentation of the environmental conditions or specific production and handling practices particular to the State" that require more restrictive requirements than NOP requirements, and any other information requested by the Secretary. If an amendment to an approved SOP is requested, the request "must contain supporting materials that include an explanation and documentation of the environmental conditions or specific production and handling practices particular to the State or region, which necessitates the proposed amendment."

The submission must also describe how the amendment would further the purposes of NOP and how it is consistent with NOP.

The Secretary must approve or reject a proposed SOP or an amendment to the SOP within six months of receiving submission of the plan or amendment.<sup>470</sup> Once an SOP is approved, the Secretary must review the SOP at least once for every five years following the date of the plan's approval.<sup>471</sup> If an SOP is not approved, the SOP's governing State official may at any time submit a revised plan or amendment thereto.<sup>472</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>463</sup> See 7 U.S.C. § 6503(b). See also 7 C.F.R. § 605.620(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>464</sup> See 7 U.S.C. § 6507(a), (b)(1). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.620(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>465</sup> 7 U.S.C. § 6507(b)(2)(A)-(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>466</sup> See id. at § 6507(a), (b)(2)(D), & (c)(2). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.620(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>467</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.621(a)(1).

<sup>468</sup> Id. at § 205.621(a)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>469</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>470</sup> 7 U.S.C. § 6507(c)(3). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.621(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>471</sup> See 7 U.S.C. § 6507(c)(1). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.622.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>472</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.621(c).

# I. Compliance

OFPA mandates that the Secretary establish appropriate and adequate procedures for enforcing the NOP.<sup>473</sup> The enforcement procedures implemented by the Secretary include (1) general compliance requirements; (2) requirements for the investigation of certified operations; (3) procedures that must be followed when a certified operation, certifying agent, or a SOP receives a notice of noncompliance; and (4) requirements for mediation.

### 1. General Requirements

The Secretary may inspect and review certified operations and accredited certifying agents to determine if the operations and agents have complied with all applicable NOP requirements. The Secretary may initiate suspension or revocation proceedings against certified operations when it believes that the operation has violated or is not in compliance with NOP requirements and when a certifying agent or state official governing a SOP fails to take appropriate action to enforce NOP requirements. The Secretary may initiate suspension or revocation proceedings against an agent's accreditation status if the agent "fails to meet, conduct, or maintain accreditation requirements" in accordance with the NOP requirements.

### 2. Investigation and Noncompliance Procedures for Certified Operations

A certifying agent may investigate complaints that a certified operation is not in compliance with NOP requirements when the complaints are made against an operation that the agent has certified. The certifying agent must notify the Secretary of all compliance proceedings and actions that it has taken against the certified operation. For states that have established a SOP, the SOP governing official may investigate complaints of noncompliance operations operating by that State.

When an investigation confirms any noncompliance with the NOP requirements, the certifying agent or SOP governing official must send a written notification of noncompliance to the operation.<sup>481</sup> The notification must describe the operation's noncompliance(s), the facts supporting the finding of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>473</sup> 7 U.S.C. § 6506(7).

<sup>474</sup> See 7 C.F.R. § 205.660. The final rule actually states that the "National Organic Program's Program Manager, on behalf of the Secretary," may inspect and review operations and certifying agents for compliance with the NOP. The term "Secretary" is used in the text of this article, rather than the term "National Organic Program Program Manager," for consistency and because "National Organic Program Program Manager" is not defined in either the OFPA or the final rule.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>475</sup> See id. at § 205.660(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>476</sup> See id. at § 205.660(b)(2).

<sup>477</sup> *Id.* at § 205.660(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>478</sup> See id. at § 205.661(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>479</sup> See id.

<sup>480</sup> See id. at § 205.661(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>481</sup> See id. at § 205.662(a).

noncompliance, the date by which the operation must challenge or correct the noncompliance(s) and "supporting documentation of each such correction when correction is possible." Once the operation demonstrates that the noncompliance has been corrected, the agent or SOP governing official must send the operation a written notification of noncompliance resolution. Notwithstanding any of these requirements, if the certifying agent or SOP governing official has reason to believe that the operation willfully violated NOP requirements, it must send the operation "a notification of proposed suspension or revocation of certification of the entire operation or a portion of the operation, as applicable to the noncompliance."

If the operation's challenge to the notice of noncompliance is unsuccessful or the operation fails to correct the noncompliance within the time specified in the written notice of noncompliance, the certifying agent or SOP governing official must send the operation "a written notification of proposed suspension or revocation of certification of the entire operation or a portion of the operation, as applicable to the noncompliance." If the noncompliance is one that is impossible to correct, the notice of noncompliance and the notice of suspension or revocation can be combined into a single written notification. The notice of suspension or revocation must describe the reasons for the proposed suspension or revocation, the proposed effective date of the suspension or revocation, and the consequence that the suspension or revocation will have on the operation's eligibility for certification in the future. It must also state that the operation has a right to request mediation or to file an appeal. Here

If an operation requests mediation or files an appeal, the certifying agent or SOP governing official cannot send a notice of suspension or revocation while a final resolution of either the mediation or the appeal is pending. If the operation does not correct the noncompliance, successfully challenge or mediate the noncompliance issue, or file an appeal of the proposed suspension or revocation of certification, the certifying agent or SOP governing official must send the operation a written notification of suspension or revocation.

Unless otherwise stated in the notice of suspension, an operation may at any time submit a request to the Secretary that its certification be reinstated. The operation must submit evidence demonstrating correction of the noncompliance and the corrective measures it has taken to remain in compliance with the NOP requirements. The option to request reinstatement of certification does

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>482</sup> *Id.* at § 205.662(a)(1)-(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>483</sup> See id. at § 205.662(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>484</sup> *Id.* at § 205.662(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>485</sup> *Id.* at § 205.662(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>486</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>487</sup> See id. at § 205.662(c)(1)-(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>488</sup> See id. at § 205.662(e)(2).

<sup>489</sup> See id. at § 205.662(e)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>490</sup> See id. at § 205.662(f)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>491</sup> See id.

not apply to operations that have received a notice of revocation. An operation, as well as any person "responsibly connected" with the operation, that receives a notice of revocation is ineligible for certification for five years from the date of revocation. The five-year period of ineligibility can be reduced or eliminated by the Secretary, however, if such action is "in the best interest of the certification program."

### 3. Violations of OFPA

In addition to suspension or revocation, a certified operation that "[k]nowingly sells or labels a product as organic, except in accordance with" OFPA, shall be subject to a civil penalty of up to \$10,000.00 for each violation. Further, any certified operation that makes a false statement under OFPA to the Secretary, a SOP governing official, or an accredited certifying agent is subject to the provisions of 18 U.S.C. § 1001. 96 18 U.S.C. § 1001 provides, in part, that

[e]xcept as otherwise provided in this section, whoever, in any matter within the jurisdiction of the executive, legislative, or judicial branch of the Government of the United States, knowingly and willfully . . . falsifies, conceals, or covers up any trick, scheme, or device a material fact; [or] . . . makes any materially false, fictitious, fraudulent statement or representation; [or]. . . makes or uses any false writing or document knowing the same to contain any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or entry; . . . shall be fined . . . or imprisoned not more than 5 years, or both. 497

#### 4. Mediation

An applicant for certification or a certified operation may choose to mediate any dispute involving the denial of certification or proposed suspension or revocation of certification. The applicant or operation must request mediation in writing and the request must be accepted by the applicable certifying agent. If the request is rejected by the certifying agent, it must provide a written notification to the applicant or certified operation. The notification must explain to the applicant or operation that it has a right to request an appeal within thirty days of the written notification. The notification. The notification is the written notification.

56

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>492</sup> See id. at § 205.662(f)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>493</sup> See id. See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.2 (defining "responsibly connected").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>494</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.662(f)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>495</sup> See id. at § 205.662(g). See also 7 C.F.R. § 205.100(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>496</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.662(g).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>497</sup> 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>498</sup> 7 C.F.R. § 205.663.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>499</sup> See id.

<sup>500</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>501</sup> See *id*.

If the certifying agent accepts the request for meditation, the mediation proceeding are to be conducted by a qualified mediator agreeable to the parties.<sup>502</sup> The parties have up to thirty days to reach an agreement following a mediation session.<sup>503</sup> If the parties cannot reach an agreement, the applicant or operation has thirty days from the termination of mediation to appeal the certifying agent's decision.<sup>504</sup> All agreements reached by the parties must be in accordance with NOP requirements, and is subject to review by the Secretary.<sup>505</sup> The Secretary may reject any agreement or part of an agreement that it determines violates NOP requirements.<sup>506</sup> If a dispute involves a SOP, the parties must use the mediation procedures for that state.<sup>507</sup>

# 5. Noncompliance Procedure for Certifying Agents

When the Secretary determines that an accredited certifying agent is not complying with NOP requirements, the Secretary must provide a written notification of noncompliance. The notification must describe the noncompliance(s), the factual basis for the notice of noncompliance, and "[t]he date by which the certifying agent must rebut or correct each noncompliance and submit supporting documentation of each correction. Once the certifying agent has demonstrated resolution of the noncompliance(s), the Secretary shall send the agent a written notification of compliance resolution. If the Secretary believes that the noncompliance(s) is willful, it must forgo sending a notice of noncompliance and shall send a notice of revocation or suspension instead.

The Secretary must send a written notification of suspension or revocation if the certifying agent's rebuttal fails or if the agent fails to correct the noncompliance within the time period given in the notice of noncompliance. This notice must state whether the certifying agent's entire accreditation or parts thereof are suspended or revoked. If the noncompliance cannot be corrected, the Secretary's notice of noncompliance and the proposed suspension or revocation can be combined into one notification. A notice of proposed suspension or revocation must describe the reasons for the proposed action, the proposed effective date of the suspension or revocation, and the

57

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>502</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>503</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>504</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>505</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>506</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>507</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>508</sup> See id. at § 205.665(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>509</sup> *Id.* at § 205.665(a)(1)-(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>510</sup> See id. at § 205.665(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>511</sup> See id. at § 205.665(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>512</sup> See id. at § 205.665(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>513</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>514</sup> See id.

consequences that the proposed suspension or revocation will have on eligibility for accreditation in the future. <sup>515</sup> It must also state that the certifying agent has a right to file an appeal. <sup>516</sup>

In the event that the certifying agent does not file an appeal, the Secretary must provide a written notice of suspension or revocation of accreditation to the certifying agent.<sup>517</sup> When its accreditation has been suspended or revoked, the certifying agent shall terminate all of its certification activities.<sup>518</sup> It must also provide the Secretary all of the records pertaining to its suspended or revoked certification activities and make the records available to the SOP governing official, as applicable.<sup>519</sup>

Unless otherwise specified in the notice of suspension, a certifying agent whose accreditation has been suspended at any time may request the Secretary to reinstate its accreditation. The request must include evidence demonstrating that the noncompliance has been corrected with a description of the corrective measures being implemented to maintain compliance with the NOP requirements. The certifying agent may not, however, request reinstatement for at least three years. Unlike the ineligibility requirements pertaining to a notice of revocation of certification issued to a certified production or handling operation, the final rule does not allow the Secretary to shorten or eliminate the three-year time period of ineligibility for a certifying agent that has received a notice of revocation of accreditation.

### 6. Noncompliance Procedures Under SOPs

The governing official for a SOP must provide prompt notice to the Secretary whenever it commences a noncompliance proceeding against a certified operation. The governing official must also provide a copy of each notice of noncompliance issued to an operation. Any appeal of a noncompliance proceeding must be appealed in accordance with the appeal procedures established for the SOP, which are discussed below. The solution is solven as a solution of the solution in the solution is solven as a solution of the solution in the solution is solven as a solution of the solution in the solution is solven as a solution of the solution in the solution is solven as a solution of the solution in the solution is solven as a solution of the solution in the solution is solven as a solution of the solution in the solution is solven as a solution of the solution in the solution is solven as a solution of the solution in the solution is solven as a solution of the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in the solution is solven as a solution in the solution in th

<sup>522</sup> See id. at § 205.665(g)(2).

<sup>525</sup> See id. at § 205.668(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>515</sup> See id. at § 205.665(c)(1)-(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>516</sup> See id. at § 205.665(c)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>517</sup> See id. at § 205.665(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>518</sup> See id. at § 205.665(f)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>519</sup> See id. at § 205.665(f)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>520</sup> See id. at § 205.665(g)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>521</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>523</sup> See id. at § 205.668(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>524</sup> See id.

proceedings may be appealed to the United States District Court for the district in which the operation is located. 526 There are no subsequent appeal rights to the Secretary. 527

The governing official may also review and investigate noncompliance complaints concerning accreditation of certifying agents within the state. <sup>528</sup> If the official discovers any noncompliance in the course of its review or investigation, it must send a written report of noncompliance to the Secretary that describes the noncompliance(s) and the factual basis for issuing the notice. <sup>529</sup> J. Adverse Action Appeals Process

Producers and handlers may appeal to the Administrator a certifying agent's decision to deny an application for certification, as well as a certifying agent's decision to issue the operation a notice of proposed suspension or revocation of certification. However, if the operation is subject to an approved SOP, the appeal must be made to the SOP and must be carried out in accordance with the SOP appeal procedures. The Administrator or SOP has the responsibility to either sustain or deny the appeal.

A decision by the Administrator or SOP to sustain the appeal shall not be subject to appeal by the affected certifying agent. If the appeal is denied, "a formal administrative proceeding will be initiated to deny, suspend, or revoke the certification" and "shall be conducted pursuant to the U.S. Department of Agriculture's Uniform Rules of Practice or the State Organic Program's rules of procedure."

Certifying agents may appeal to the Administrator a decision by the Secretary to deny an application for accreditation, as well as a decision by the Secretary to issue a proposed notice of suspension or revocation of accreditation. As with certification appeals, the Administrator will sustain or deny the appeal. If it is sustained, the applicant will be issued accreditation or the certifying agent will continue its accreditation. If the appeal is denied, a formal adjudicative

<sup>526</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>527</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>528</sup> See id. at § 205.668(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>529</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>530</sup> See id. at §§ 205.680 & 205.681.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>531</sup> See id.

<sup>532</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>533</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>534</sup> *Id.* at § 205.681(a)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>535</sup> See id. at § 205.681(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>536</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>537</sup> See id. at § 205.681(b)(1).

proceeding to deny, suspend, or revoke the accreditation will be initiated" and such proceeding "shall be conducted pursuant to the U.S. Department of Agriculture's Uniform Rules of Practice . . . . "538

An appeal of a noncompliance determination must be filed within either the time period provided in the letter of notification or within thirty days from the receipt of the notification, whichever occurs later. <sup>539</sup> If not filed in a timely manner, a decision to deny, revoke, or suspend certification or accreditation will become final and nonappealable. <sup>540</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>538</sup> See id. at § 205.681(b)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>539</sup> See id. at § 205.681(c).

<sup>540</sup> See id.